Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

5-24-2019 10:00 AM

Identifying neuroimaging and genetic correlates of delusions and hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease

Juweiriya Ahmed, western university

Supervisor: Finger, Elizabeth, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Neuroscience © Juweiriya Ahmed 2019

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Ahmed, Juweiriya, "Identifying neuroimaging and genetic correlates of delusions and hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease" (2019). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 6199. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/6199

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

The co-occurrence of psychotic symptoms and Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a devastating phenotype that affects around 50% of individuals with AD. We hypothesized that distinct interactions between brain structures and genetic variants in dopaminergic, cholinergic and glutamatergic neurotransmitter systems may be associated with the presence of hallucinations and delusions in AD. Using the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative, we identified participants that presented with symptoms of delusions, hallucinations, or both symptoms. PLS-CA was used to identify differences in patterns of interactions between 15 single nucleotide polymorphisms and 82 neuroanatomical regions of interest between AD patients endorsing symptoms of delusions, hallucinations, and matched AD controls. Binary logistic regression analysis was used to cross-validate identified neuroanatomical differences. Results provide preliminary evidence that genetic variants in the glutamatergic system, along with regional brain changes, may uniquely identify those with hallucinations. A trend towards significance was also found which suggests that atrophy to the frontal lobe coupled with preservation of temporal lobe structures may be associated with symptoms of delusions in patients with AD. Overall, results provide evidence of a unique signature of neuroimaging and genetic interactions which may be associated with the presence of different psychotic symptoms in AD.

Keywords

Alzheimer's disease, hallucinations, delusions, psychosis, single nucleotide polymorphisms, cholinergic system, dopaminergic system, glutamatergic system, neurotransmitters, Magnetic Resonance Imaging, Partial Least Squares Correspondence Analysis.

Co-Authorship Statement

All data for this study was obtained from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. I completed all aspects of data cleaning, extraction, analysis, and thesis writing with feedback from Dr. Elizabeth Finger. I received assistance with data analysis and preprocessing from Derek Beaton and Andrew Robertson. All R scripts used for the PLS-CA were created by Derek Beaton and Andrew Robertson. GWAS data was preprocessed and imputed by the lab of Dr. Jo Knight, in particular by Sejal Patel at the University of Toronto.

Acknowledgments

This project would not have been possible without the support, mentorship, and continued guidance that I received from the many people that I had the privilege to work with and learn from during my Master's degree. I extend my sincerest gratitude to you all.

To my supervisor, Dr. Elizabeth Finger: There are no words to express how grateful I am for all your guidance and mentorship. Thank you for believing in me and my ability to achieve all the goals that I set out for myself. From you, I have learned what it means to be an incredible leader, a scientist, and a clinician. You have instilled within me a passion for neuroscience and research. Thank you for sharing your expertise, encouraging me to think critically, and motivating me to never stop pursing the endless avenues of scientific inquiry.

To my committee members: Dr. Palaniyappan and Dr. Pasternak, thank you both for sharing your time and expertise, and for providing me with valuable feedback during our advisory committee meetings.

To all our collaborators: Derek Beaton, Andrew Robertson, Sejal Patel, Dr. Mario Masellis – thank you for your patience and willingness to take the time to teach me about different statistical techniques and genetic analysis. Additionally, thank you for your continued guidance throughout this project.

To my lab members, past and present: Kristy Coleman, Chloe Stewart, Tamara Tavares, Mathura Thiyagarajah, Mika Ohtsuka, Eric Mitchell, Katie Helou, Carolina Silveira, Tommy Li, Sarah Jesso, Koula Pantazopoulos, Rokhsana Mortuza – thank you all for sharing in my happiness, for lifting me up, and for providing me with valuable advice and suggestions. I'm truly grateful to have met each and every one of you. And of course, thank you for always listening to my practice talks and presentations (even when you had heard it many times before).

To my family and friends: Thank you for your continuous encouragement and unwavering support over the past two years (and throughout my life). Thank you for being there for me, believing in me, and for always keeping me grounded.

Finally, thank you to all the participants who volunteered their time to be a part of the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. None of this research would have been possible without your valuable contributions to the research community. Furthermore, thank you to the funding sources that made this project possible.

Abstractii
Co-Authorship Statementiii
Acknowledgmentsiv
Table of Contents
List of Tables
List of Figures x
List of Abbreviations xi
Chapter 1 1
1 Literature Review
1.1 Alzheimer's Disease
1.1.1 Stages of Cognitive Impairment and Progression to Alzheimer's Disease 2
1.1.2 Neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease
1.1.3 Neuropsychiatric and behavioural symptoms in Alzheimer's disease5
1.1.4 Primary Psychosis vs. Secondary Psychosis
1.2 Psychosis and Alzheimer's disease
1.2.1 Delusions in Alzheimer's disease: Cognitive models and neuroanatomical correlates
1.2.2 Hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease: Cognitive models and neuroanatomical correlates
1.3 Genetic Correlates of Psychosis
1.3.1 Cholinergic System
1.3.2 Dopaminergic System
1.3.3 Glutamatergic System
1.3.4 Current Treatment Approaches

Table of Contents

	1.5	Rationale and Hypothesis 1	15			
Cl	napte	er 2 1	16			
2	2 Methods 1					
	2.1 ADNI Overview					
	2.2 Participants					
	2.3 Demographic and Behavioural Data Analysis					
	2.4 Neuroimaging Data Preprocessing and FreeSurfer Analysis					
	2.5 Genetic Data Acquisition and Preprocessing					
	2.6	Candidate SNP Selection	21			
2.7 Statistical Analysis						
2.7.1 Partial Least Squares Correspondence Analysis: Overview						
		2.7.2 PLS-CA	27			
		2.7.3 Principal Component Analysis and Binary Logistic Regression	28			
Cl	napte	er 3	30			
3	Res	sults	30			
	3.1	Imaging and Genetics: PLS-CA Results	31			
		3.1.1 Delusion Cohort	31			
		3.1.2 Hallucination Conort	36			
		3.1.2 Hallucination Cohort	36 40			
	3.2	3.1.2 Hallucination Cohort	36 40 45			
	3.2	3.1.2 Hallucination Conort	36 40 45 45			
	3.2	3.1.2 Hallucination Cohort	 36 40 45 45 51 			
Cl	3.2	3.1.2 Hallucination Conort	 36 40 45 45 51 57 			
C1 4	3.2 napte Dis	3.1.2 Hallucination Conort	 36 40 45 45 51 57 57 			
Cl 4	3.2 napte Dis 4.1	3.1.2 Hallucination Conort	 36 40 45 45 51 57 57 58 			

	4.3 Hallucinations in Alzheimer's Disease	60
	4.4 The Co-occurrence of Delusions and Hallucinations in Alzheimer's Disease	63
	4.5 Limitations and Future Directions	64
5	Conclusions	66
A	sppendix	67
R	leferences	69
С	Curriculum Vitae	90

List of Tables

Table 1. Candidate single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the Cholinergic (BCHE,
CHRNA7) and the Dopaminergic (COMT, DRD1, DRD2, DRD3) neurotransmitter systems.
Table 2. Candidate single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the Glutamatergic (GRIN2A,
GRIN2B, GRIN3A, GRIN3B) neurotransmitter system
Table 3. PLS-CA Delusion Cohort: Demographic and disease profile. 32
Table 4. PLS-CA - Delusion Cohort. Minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest 33
Table 5. Delusion Cohort: Neuroimaging boot-strap regression, summary of ROIs with
cortical thickness values below the grand mean for Component 1
Table 6. PLS-CA Hallucination Cohort: Demographic and disease profile
Table 7. PLS-CA - Hallucination Cohort. Minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of
interest
Table 8. Hallucination Cohort: Neuroimaging boot-strap regression, summary of significant
ROIs with cortical thickness values below the grand mean for Component 1
Table 9. PLS-CA Combined Cohort: Demographic and disease profile 41
Table 10. PLS-CA - Combined Cohort. Minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest
Table 11. Combined Cohort: Neuroimaging boot-strap regression, summary of significant
ROIs with cortical thickness values below the grand mean for Component 1
Table 12. Imaging only analysis: Delusion cohort demographic and disease profile
Table 13. Delusion Cohort: Rotated component matrix. Colours indicate ROIs loading most
strongly to each component based on component scores. Loadings below 0.3 have been
suppressed. $R = Right$, L=Left

Table 14. Imaging only analysis: Hallucination cohort demographic and disease profile 53

most strongly to each component based on component scores. Loadings below 0.3 have been

List of Figures

List of Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's disease				
SCD	Subjective cognitive decline				
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment				
MoCA	Montreal cognitive assessment				
aMCI	Amnestic mild cognitive impairment				
naMCI	Non-amnestic mild cognitive impairment				
EOAD Early-onset Alzheimer's disease					
LOAD	Late-onset Alzheimer's disease				
APOE Apolipoprotein E					
NFTs	Neurofibrillary tangles				
NPS	Neuropsychiatric symptoms				
BPSD	Behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia				
NPI	Neuropsychiatric inventory				
NPI-Q	Neuropsychiatric inventory questionnaire				
AD+P	Alzheimer's disease with psychotic symptoms				
SPECT	Single photon emission computed tomography				
PET	Positron emission tomography				
AD+D	AD with delusions				
LBD	Lewy body dementia				
AD+H	AD with hallucinations				
ACh	Acetylcholine				

GWAS	Genome-wide analysis studies		
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphisms		
COMT Catechol-O- methyltransferase			
ADNI	Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative		
MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging			
CDR Clinical dementia rating scale			
MMSE Mini-mental state exam			
TIV	Total intracranial volume		
QC	Quality control		
IBD	Identity by descent		
MAF	Minor allele frequency		
CEU	Utah residents with ancestry from northern and western Europe		
YRI	Yoruba in Ibadan, Nigeria		
JPT	Japanese in Tokyo, Japan		
TSI	Tuscans in Italy		
CHB	Han Chinese in Beijing, China		
MDS	Multidimensional scaling		
BCHE	Butyrylcholinesterase		
CHRNA7	Cholinergic Receptor, Nicotinic Alpha 7 Subunit		
DRD1	Dopamine Receptor D1		
DRD2	Dopamine Receptor D2		
DRD3	Dopamine Receptor D3		
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate		
GRIN2A	Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 2A		

GRIN2B	Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 2B		
GRIN3A	Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 3A		
GRIN3B	Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 3B		
PLS-CA	Partial least squares correspondence analysis		
ROI	Region of interest		
AD-DH	AD without symptoms of delusions or hallucinations		
AD	AD with both symptoms of delusions and hallucinations		
РСА	Principal component analysis		
FDG-PET	Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography		

1 Literature Review

1.1 Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease and is the most common cause of dementia. It affects close to 560,000 individuals in Canada alone and around 44 million people worldwide with the prevalence projected to double in the next ten years ^{1,2}. Importantly, the cognitive and functional deficits that arise from AD are more advanced than typical age-related cognitive decline and may present many years prior to an established clinical diagnosis of AD. With a growing aging population in Canada and worldwide, AD is not only a pressing concern for individuals and care-givers, but also represents a much larger public health issue. As such, research endeavors aiming to identify and characterize the underlying biological substrates contributing to the progression of AD and its associated symptoms are increasingly important as a starting avenue for the development of therapeutic interventions.

1.1.1 Stages of Cognitive Impairment and Progression to Alzheimer's Disease

AD is associated with gradual cognitive decline, with the specific disease trajectory for each individual being modulated by a combination of biological, social and psychological factors. Initial indications of prodromal AD are often reported as subjective cognitive decline (SCD) with patients endorsing symptoms of worsening cognitive function without clear impairments on cognitive screening tests ^{3,4}. As cognitive functions decline, patients may progress to develop Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) - characterized by a mildmoderate degree of cognitive impairment with preserved activities of daily living. A diagnosis of MCI is established through a comprehensive patient history and validated cut-off scores on neuropsychological testing including the Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE)⁵ and the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA)^{6,7}. An important distinction to note, is that those with MCI can be categorized into two major subgroups - amnestic MCI (aMCI) and non-amnestic MCI (naMCI), with the key distinguishing feature between the latter and the former being the predominance of memory impairments⁸. aMCI is often referred to as MCI due to AD, given its increased risk of progression to AD, with one study identifying an 8.5-fold increased risk for those with probable aMCI of converting to dementia⁹. This distinction has been further supported by structural

neuroimaging studies which implicate a greater reduction in volume and cortical thickness of key memory structures such as the hippocampus and the entorhinal cortex in patients with aMCI when compared to naMCI and healthy older controls ¹⁰. Eventual progression to AD is characterized by severe cognitive and functional impairments that limit one's ability to carry out activities of daily living. These symptoms include memory loss, impaired reasoning and judgement, and changes in personality and behaviour – likely attributable to advanced neurodegeneration that hinders the brain's ability to compensate for disruptions in regional cortical networks.

Early-Onset Alzheimer's Disease (EOAD). About 5.5% of individuals diagnosed with AD are affected by early-onset or familial AD ¹¹. EOAD differs from late-onset Alzheimer's disease (LOAD) in that it affects individuals who are less than 65 years of age. Individuals with EOAD with a family history of AD may present with genetic mutations linked to three key genes – the Amyloid Precursor Protein ¹², Presenilin 1¹³, and Presenilin 2 ¹⁴. Mutations in these genes have been found to be associated with the accumulation of beta-amyloid in the brain contributing to increased plaque pathology.

Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease (LOAD). LOAD is a term used to classify individuals who develop AD after the age of 65. The greatest risk factor for LOAD is age, with the risk of AD doubling every 5 years after the age of 60¹⁵. In addition to age, other genetic and environmental factors may also contribute to the development of LOAD. The major genetic risk factor for LOAD is the apolipoprotein E (APOE) gene, a key gene in the central and peripheral nervous system involved in lipid transport ^{16,17}. In particular, when compared to the more common E3/E3 genotype, those with one copy of the E4 allele have a three-fold increased risk of AD, while those with two copies of the allele have an 8-12 fold increased risk of AD, while those with the E4 allele is thought to contribute to AD pathology is through the decreased ability to clear beta-amyloid, leading to the aggregation of beta-amyloid into fibrils and plaques which subsequently contribute to disruptions in synaptic connectivity and neurodegeneration in AD ²⁰.The immunoreactivity of ApoE has also been shown to be associated with amyloid deposits and neurofibrillary tangles ²¹. Protective factors against AD include carrying the E2 allele of the APOE gene, more years of formal education, physical activity, and social

engagement ^{22–25}. Both increased educational attainment and social activity are thought to be protective against AD due to their proposed ability to increase cognitive reserve. In this case, cognitive reserve refers to the brain's ability to adapt to pathological changes arising from AD, by using either compensatory strategies or other means of cognitive appraisals. Overall, these observations suggest that increased cognitive reserve may make individuals more resilient to early disruptions in normal cognitive functioning arising from the pathology of AD, and delay the onset of identifiable cognitive impairment ^{26–28}.

1.1.2 Neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease.

The two cardinal pathological features of Alzheimer's disease – beta-amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tau tangles (NFTs), were first identified and described by Alois Alzheimer^{29,30}. The aggregation of extracellular beta-amyloid, in particular the neurotoxic AB42 form of the protein, has been identified to lead to the formation of oligomers and senile plaques throughout the brain in patients with AD ^{31,32}. Beta-amyloid has also been implicated in the amyloid cascade hypothesis which postulates that AD progression is driven by the accumulation of insoluble extracellular beta-amyloid plaques. This accumulation is thought to disrupt downstream processes and contribute to the abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins. Collectively, both the beta-amyloid and tau pathology arising from this cascade is thought to lead to disruptions in synaptic connectivity and ultimately neuronal death ³³.

NFTs are abnormally phosphorylated tau proteins localized within neurons. The accumulation of phosphorylated tau proteins leads to misfolding and disruption of intraneuronal cytoskeletal architecture resulting in decreased cell stability ^{34–36}. NFTs are initially found regionally distributed in cortical and subcortical structures involved in memory and cognitive function, with their presence in these regions corresponding with early symptoms characteristic of AD. These include structures within the temporal lobe such as the entorhinal cortex, hippocampus, amygdala and posterior parahippocampal regions ³⁷. Overtime, paralleling disease progression, NFTs become more dispersed and affect structures involved in language, personality and motor coordination. Given the positive correlation between NFT pathology and AD progression, clinical evaluations characterize AD progression using NFT pathology as a severity and stage marker of AD.

³⁸. Taken together, both beta-amyloid plaques and NFTs are associated with disruptions in normal cell-signaling which ultimately manifests biologically as localized cortical atrophy in regions affected by these lesions, and behaviorally as impairments in memory, language and other cognitive and non-cognitive domains.

1.1.3 Neuropsychiatric and behavioural symptoms in Alzheimer's disease

In addition to cognitive impairments, many patients with AD also develop non-cognitive symptoms such as neuropsychiatric symptoms which are interchangeably referred to as behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia. The prevalence of these symptoms in patients with dementia has been shown to be nearly universal with close to 97% of patients developing at least one neuropsychiatric symptom ³⁹. The comorbid presentation of AD with neuropsychiatric symptoms has been shown to be associated with more rapid cognitive decline, higher rates of institutionalization, and greater care-giver and financial burden ^{40–42}. In a clinical setting, the most widely used assessment for neuropsychiatric symptoms in individuals with dementia is the Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI)⁴³. The NPI evaluates the frequency and severity of 12 neuropsychiatric symptoms including delusions, hallucinations, agitation, dysphoria, anxiety, apathy, irritability, euphoria, disinhibition, aberrant motor behaviour, night-time behaviour disturbances, and appetitive and eating abnormalities. The NPI has also been adapted into a validated brief clinical form known as the Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q)⁴⁴ which assesses the presence or absence of these neuropsychiatric symptoms. A systematic review by Zhao and colleagues (2016) found that in patients with AD, apathy was the most common NPS with a prevalence of 49%, while euphoria was the least common with a prevalence of 7%. Further studies have used techniques such as factor analysis to categorize these symptoms into distinct subgroups including, 1) Hyperactivity (agitation, disinhibition, irritability, and aberrant motor behaviours); 2) Psychosis (hallucinations, delusions, nighttime behaviour disturbance); 3) Affective (depression, anxiety); and 4) Apathy ⁴⁵. Of particular importance is that the psychosis subsyndrome was associated with the highest overall NPI score, suggesting that the presence of these symptoms may further exacerbate cognitive and functional decline in patients with AD.

1.1.4 Primary Psychosis vs. Secondary Psychosis

Psychotic symptoms are common and characteristic phenomenon of primary psychotic disorders such as schizophrenia but may also arise as presenting symptoms in other diseases ⁴⁶. When psychosis arises as a symptom of a pre-existing medical condition, for example as a symptom of delirium ⁴⁷, neurologic, or neurodegenerative disorder, this presentation is referred to as secondary psychosis. A key distinguishing feature of primary psychosis from secondary psychosis arising from AD, is that on cognitive screening, those with primary psychosis retain the ability to remain oriented to the world around them ⁴⁸. When comparing the two most common psychotic symptoms – delusions and hallucinations, in those with schizophrenia and AD, a few key differences are important to note. Firstly, delusional symptoms in schizophrenia tend to be more complex and bizarre, while in AD delusions tend to be simpler, with the most common being paranoid delusions such as delusions of theft or infidelity ^{49,50}. This distinction is supported by neuroimaging studies which further suggest that delusions in AD may arise as a result of progressive memory and cognitive impairments ^{51,52}, which in turn may generate states of confusion or paranoia ultimately leading to delusional symptoms ⁵³. Secondly, individuals with schizophrenia also predominantly experience auditory hallucinations but may also experience hallucinations in other sensory modalities. The hallucinations experienced by those with schizophrenia are typically described as Schneider's first-rank symptoms indicating a loss of self vs. non-self distinction (e.g. hearing third-person voices talking to one another about oneself, intrusive second-person voices commenting on an individual's thoughts and behaviours)⁵⁴. In contrast, visual hallucinations tend to be more common in individuals with AD and include seeing people or animals ⁵⁵. While the presentation of psychotic symptoms may vary in those with schizophrenia and AD, neuroimaging studies have implicated similar brain regions suggesting an overlapping neuropathology, discussed in further detail below, which may contribute to the development of hallucinations and delusions in these disorders.

1.2 Psychosis and Alzheimer's disease

The co-occurrence of psychotic symptoms and AD is a devastating phenotype (AD+P) that affects close to 40% of individuals with AD 41 , making it one of the most common

psychotic disorders – second only to schizophrenia ^{49,56}. When describing psychotic symptoms in AD, the two most common symptoms that fall under this category are delusions and hallucinations. Delusions are defined as persistent false beliefs that are resistant to reasoning and are independent of any cultural beliefs. Hallucinations are defined as sensory perceptions, of any sensory modality, that occur in the absence of any external stimuli. Notably, in AD, the presence of these symptoms begins early in the disease course and remains persistent over time. For example, a study by Paulsen and colleagues (2000)⁵⁷, showed that in a sample of 329 AD patients, 20% had symptoms of hallucinations or delusions at baseline, with the cumulative incidence increasing to around 51% at four years follow-up. When compared to other neuropsychiatric symptoms in AD, such as agitation, aggression or disinhibition, the grouping of hallucinations and delusions into one overarching category in many factor analytic and latent class analysis studies, suggests that these symptoms may have some shared neural correlates ^{45,58,59}. But when broken down further, more recent studies suggest a divergence in psychotic symptomatology and consequently raise the question of whether the final pathway that leads to the presentation of hallucinations and delusions in AD may differ ^{60,61}. Studies that have subdivided psychotic symptoms to identify the individual prevalence of delusions and hallucinations have consistently found that delusions tend to be more common in those with AD when compared to hallucinations ^{62,63}. In a systematic review, the prevalence of delusions was found to range from 9-59% in individuals with AD, with a pooled-prevalence of approximately 31%, while the prevalence of hallucinations was found to range from 6 - 41%, with a pooled prevalence of approximately 16%⁶⁴. Given that delusions and hallucinations may be associated with distinct biological correlates, developing a better understanding of how they uniquely arise may provide greater insight into more specific and targeted treatment options for each symptom.

1.2.1 Delusions in Alzheimer's disease: Cognitive models and neuroanatomical correlates

Investigations into the neuroanatomical and pathological correlates of delusions in AD have led to the proposition of three key theories that may explain the etiology of delusions in AD ⁶⁵. The first model is known as the hypofrontality model which postulates that delusions in AD arise as a result of disrupted frontal lobe function either

due to atrophy to frontal brain regions or hypoperfusion in these areas. Evidence in support of this model include neuroimaging studies using single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) and positron emission tomography (PET) which suggest that individuals with AD and delusions (AD+D), when compared to controls, have hypoperfusion in frontal brain regions $^{66-68}$. A limitation of this theory is that it presupposes that all delusional symptoms may arise as a result of frontal pathology without acknowledging that different types of delusions for example, misidentification and paranoid delusions may have additional unique neural substrates. For example, an earlier PET study of AD patients with misidentification delusions, found that patients with these delusions compared to AD controls, had more pronounced bilateral cingulate and basal ganglia hypometabolism, in particular in regions of the orbitofrontal, middle temporal, anterior and posterior cingulate, left caudate nucleus, left lentiform nucleus, and the left calcarine⁶⁹. Results of this study suggest that it may not just be the frontal lobes that are implicated in AD+D, but rather coordinated networks of regions which may contribute to the presence of specific types of delusions in AD. In particular, given the involvement of the basal ganglia, there may be limbic loops extending from subcortical structures to frontal regions of the cortex which may explain the distressing emotional aspects of delusional symptoms.

The second theory proposes that delusions may be non-cognitive manifestations of AD and are based on research findings that suggest that individuals with AD+D may have greater behavioural impairments independent of AD neuropathology when compared to those without delusions ^{70,71}. More specifically, this theory proposes that individuals with AD+D do not significantly differ in cognitive abilities on neuropsychological testing when compared to individuals without delusions, but that they do have more severe behavioural symptoms such as aggression and other activity disturbances. As such, according to this theory, scores on neuropsychological testing alone would not be predictive of the subsequent development of delusions in AD. From a neuropathological level, Sweet and colleagues (2000)⁷¹ found that AD+P was not associated with increased severity of plaque and tangle formation when the sample was controlled for the presence of Lewy bodies. A few limitations of this theory include the lack of consideration that perhaps aggressive behaviours may make individuals more prone to psychosis or vice versa. Namely, those with symptoms of aggression may be more inclined to exhibit paranoid delusions in which they believe that others are stealing from them or fear persecution from those around them. Contrarily, delusional belief that others are out to get them, may actually perpetuate aggressive behaviours. As such, it would be important to dissociate whether delusions exhibited by those with other behavioural symptoms are in fact organic delusions or whether they occur in response to, or a result of, aggressive behaviours and can be resolved upon treatment of aggressive symptoms.

In contrast, the third theory proposes that AD+D may arise as a result of the pathophysiology of AD. With respect to this theory, the pathophysiology of AD is defined in reference to the characteristic features of AD – namely amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles. Unlike the aforementioned theory, this model proposes that the increased severity of these plaques and tangles may contribute to the presence of delusions in AD. In support of this model, studies have found independent associations of psychotic symptoms with neurofibrillary tangle density ⁷² and senile plaques ⁷³. These differences in findings when compared to the previously described theory could be attributed to the lack of control for those with Lewy body dementia (LBD), as well as different methodological approaches with regards to specific brain regions that were investigated.

While these theories have been used to describe the biological correlates of delusions more generally, it is important to note that delusions in AD can be categorized into two major subgroups – paranoid and misidentification delusions ⁷⁴. Paranoid delusions include delusions of persecution, theft, as well as infidelity. Misidentification delusions include Capgras syndrome in which an individual believes someone close to them has been replaced by an imposter; TV sign, in which they believe that characters or situations depicted on TV shows are real; and phantom boarder syndrome in which they believe that a stranger is inhabiting their house. In contrast to the theories proposed above, a review of more recent studies suggest that paranoid and misidentification delusions may have distinct neuropathological correlates, with paranoid delusions being associated with more frontal impairments and misidentification delusions with medial temporal lobe structures ⁷⁵.

In addition to these three theories, many studies also suggest a hemispheric lateralization for delusions, with the majority of studies implicating right hemisphere dysfunction ^{57,67,76}. In particular, it has been hypothesized that atrophy in the right hemisphere may lead to changes in memory, thinking, reality monitoring failure, and impairments in autobiographical memory retrieval, which in turn may manifest as delusional judgements or beliefs that can be communicated if there is relative preservation of the left hemisphere ^{77,78}. Collectively, these theories suggest that there may be multiple factors contributing to the pathology of AD+D, with the majority suggesting involvement of the frontal lobes as being the driving factor behind delusional beliefs.

1.2.2 Hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease: Cognitive models and neuroanatomical correlates

Hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease (AD+H) can be associated with any sensory modality but the two most common types of hallucinations in AD tend to be visual and auditory ^{79–81}. Understanding the underlying biological correlates of hallucinatory symptoms is increasingly important since previous research suggests that the presence of hallucinations in AD is associated with more rapid cognitive deterioration and an increased risk of mortality ^{82–84}. With regards to the neuroanatomical correlates of hallucinations, some studies suggest the involvement of corresponding sensory brain regions with particular modalities of hallucinations (i.e. primary auditory cortex in auditory hallucinations, visual cortex for visual hallucinations) and go further to suggest that specific brain regions may be linked to the content of hallucinations ⁸⁵. Being able to correlate hallucinations with specific brain regions is particularly important because it may suggest that localized pathological abnormalities are associated with subtypes of hallucinations and therefore help to guide more targeted treatment options.

When looking at the neuroanatomical correlates of hallucinations in AD specifically, there have been conflicting hypotheses as to what may generate these symptoms. Some studies suggest that visual hallucinations may arise as a result of occipital lobe atrophy ⁸⁶, while others suggest that relative preservation of the cortex is necessary to generate psychotic symptoms in AD ⁸⁷. In support of the posterior atrophy and hypometabolism model, one study found that subcortical white matter lesions in occipital regions –

hypothesized to be an indication of abnormalities in the primary visual pathway, were associated with AD+H in the absence of any visual acuity deficits ⁸⁸. Controlling for visual acuity is particularly important in an elderly population, given that other neurologic deficits, such as Charles Bonnet syndrome may also give rise to hallucinations ⁸⁹. Charles Bonnet syndrome is also characterized by symptoms of visual hallucinations but in this case these symptoms arise as a result of vision loss from eye conditions such as macular degeneration. In addition to the neuroanatomical correlates of hallucinations, one study also suggests that hallucinations in AD are associated with a decline in inhibitory control and difficulty in suppressing intrusive memories or thoughts which may then be misattributed to external stimuli ⁹⁰. Overall, given the heterogeneity of hallucinations, there is no clear consensus in the field as to what may be the underlying mechanism of hallucinations in AD, but the existing literature does suggest that brain regions involved in different sensory process may be associated with hallucinations of the same modality.

1.3 Genetic Correlates of Psychosis

While there is significant evidence that regional brain atrophy may contribute to the formation of hallucinations and delusions, what remains unclear is why a proportion of individuals with AD develop psychotic symptoms while others remain asymptomatic throughout their disease course. To address this variability, some studies have looked into the heritability of AD+P and have found evidence of a familial aggregation of AD+P ^{60,91,92}. These studies have also identified a heritable component, with one study estimating the heritability of LOAD and psychotic symptoms to be around 61% ⁹³. Collectively, these studies provide strong evidence in support of a genetic component to AD+P and highlight the importance of understanding the genetic factors which may contribute to the development of psychotic symptoms in AD. Genetic variants in neurotransmitter pathways are of particular interest, given the modulation of psychotic symptoms by treatments that target neurotransmitters in several neuropsychiatric disorders. More specifically, studies that have examined neurotransmitters involved in the development of schizophrenia as well as other neurodegenerative diseases that present with psychiatric symptoms, such as AD, have implicated a role of the cholinergic,

dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurotransmitter system in the development of delusions and hallucinations.

1.3.1 Cholinergic System

One of the pathologies of Alzheimer's disease is the loss of neurons in the Nucleus Basalis of Meynert, a major source of cholinergic innervation to the cerebral cortex^{94,95}. The neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) plays an important role in memory, arousal and learning. Consequently, the cholinergic deficiencies which arise in AD have led to the development of the cholinergic hypothesis in explaining the cognitive and behavioural changes, including neuropsychiatric symptoms, in AD ^{96,97}. The cholinergic hypothesis of neuropsychiatric symptoms in AD proposes that the projections from the nucleus basalis, which enables limbic-neocortical interactions, becomes disrupted and consequently alters emotional and motivational states, leading to the observed behavioural changes in AD 98. Recent genome-wide analysis studies (GWAS) have begun to investigate single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in neurotransmitter systems to identify if certain polymorphisms may be risk factors for the development of psychosis in AD ⁹⁹. For example, a significant association between the development of delusions and a polymorphism (rs6494223) in the alpha-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene has been identified ¹⁰⁰. Moreover, patients treated with donepezil, a cholinesterase inhibitor, have shown improvements in delusional symptoms suggesting that imbalances in the cholinergic system, in particular within frontal brain regions, may be associated with the emergence of delusional symptoms in AD¹⁰¹.

1.3.2 Dopaminergic System

The dopamine system has been extensively studied in relation to the positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. More specially, the dopaminergic hypothesis postulates that the positive symptoms of schizophrenia (i.e. hallucinations, delusions etc.) may arise as a result of increased dopamine levels in the striatum, stemming from increased D2/D3 receptor density ^{102,103}. Given the findings that symptoms of psychosis may arise as a result of dopamine irregularities, studies have likewise examined the effect of dopamine specific polymorphisms and the development of psychotic symptoms in

neurodegenerative diseases. One such study by Sweet and colleagues (1998)¹⁰⁴, found that polymorphisms in the dopamine D1 and D3 receptor conferred a moderate risk of developing psychotic symptoms in AD. Similarly, a polymorphism in the catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) gene, which leads to the upregulation of striatal dopamine, has been shown to be a risk factor for the development of psychosis in AD ¹⁰⁵.

1.3.3 Glutamatergic System

The glutamate system is likewise an appropriate candidate system to assess in relation with psychotic symptoms given that abnormal glutamate activity in schizophrenia is hypothesized to contribute to the development of hallucinations and delusions. Studies such as those conducted by Mogahaddam et al., (1997)¹⁰⁶ and Bickel and Javitt (2009)¹⁰⁷, provide support that antagonism of NMDA receptors elevates extracellular glutamate levels which may in turn lead to the development of psychotic symptoms similar to those seen in schizophrenia. On the other hand, excessive NMDA activity is associated with neurotoxicity which can lead to neuronal cell death, as can been seen in many neurodegenerative diseases such as AD¹⁰⁸. To further support the role of the glutamate system in the development of psychotic symptoms, Begni and colleagues (2003)¹⁰⁹, found that the G1001C polymorphism in the Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 1, in particular the C allele, was significantly associated with an increased risk of Schizophrenia (OR = 2.04). Through examining the functional effects of the G1001C polymorphism, the authors identified that this polymorphism may exert its biological effects by altering the consensus sequence in the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain enhancer of activated B-cells (NF-kB) transcription factor, a protein complex involved in DNA transcription. As such, investigating polymorphisms in the glutamate system may provide additional information on how psychotic symptoms may arise in AD.

1.3.4 Current Treatment Approaches

Current treatment approaches for psychotic symptoms in AD include the use of atypical antipsychotics such as risperidone, olanzapine, and aripiprazole but have been associated with limited efficacy and severe side effects in patients with dementia, deriving from a lack of biological specificity. A review of 16 placebo-controlled trials suggests that the

use of risperidone may modestly improve psychotic symptoms in AD but is also associated with severe adverse outcomes including cerebrovascular and extrapyramidal side effects. Given the modest efficacy and vast side-effect profile, it was concluded that risperidone should not be used to routinely treat patients with AD+P¹¹⁰. A subsequent review identified that those with more severe symptoms of AD+P were those that may benefit the most from risperidone treatment ¹¹¹. Aside from risperidone, a clinical trial of aripiprazole in patients with a definitive diagnosis of AD+P, showed only a modest benefit when compared to placebo in improving psychotic symptoms. One identified benefit of aripiprazole when compared to other atypical antipsychotics, was that it was associated with minimal adverse side effects in patients with AD, although it did have minor negative effects on cognition ¹¹². However, it is also important to note that a review looking at the mortality rates associated with general atypical antipsychotic use found that there was an increased risk of mortality in patients with dementia that used these drugs (OR: 1.54)¹¹³. These findings of adverse and limited side-effects associated with current treatments for psychosis in AD, reiterate the importance of identifying more specific treatment options that target psychotic symptoms in AD. This is particularly important given that earlier interventions may improve the quality of life of those with AD+P, reduce long-term health care costs, and reduce the risk of institutionalization.

1.4 Neuroimaging and Genomics

Previous research has examined whether regional brain changes or genetic polymorphisms in neurotransmitter systems may give rise to psychotic symptoms. However, the results to date have been inconsistent because of a lack of dissociation of psychosis into the different subtypes. In addition, few studies have linked brain imaging and genetics together to investigate how the interaction between these two factors may mediate the presence of hallucinations and delusions in AD specifically. A previous study using neuroimaging genomics (the integration of neuroimaging and genetic techniques) and machine learning to predict AD, showed that adding genetics (in particular SNPs) to other imaging modalities may help improve the classification accuracy of AD ¹¹⁴. One other study used large scale brain mapping for gene discovery to look specifically for SNPs that may be associated with temporal lobe volume. This study found that the risk allele for rs10845840 located in the GRIN2B gene was associated with lower temporal lobe volume and overrepresented in AD/MCI subjects when compared to controls ¹¹⁵. Although these studies did not look at particular symptoms of AD, these findings suggest that considering the interaction between neuroimaging and genetic factors may provide additional valuable information to aid in classification of participants. This is particularly important for psychotic symptoms in AD, given that hallucinations and delusions may arise as a result of imbalances in different neurotransmitter systems which may become more pronounced as a result of regional brain changes arising from AD.

1.5 Rationale and Hypothesis

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between regional brain changes and genetic polymorphisms in neurotransmitter systems and the presence of hallucinations and delusions in AD. Given prior findings that there may be anatomical variations in individuals with AD, we sought to investigate whether these differences may indicate different phenotypes of AD. In particular, with regards to psychotic symptoms in AD, studies suggest that the frequency of these symptoms may vary across individuals with AD, with some individuals developing psychosis and others remaining asymptomatic throughout their disease course. Furthermore, there remains limited evidence and consensus in the literature with regards to particular brain regions that may be associated with symptoms of hallucinations and delusions. As such, we hypothesized that the *interactions* between regional brain structures and genetic variants in cholinergic, dopaminergic or glutamatergic neurotransmitter systems would be associated with symptoms of psychosis in AD, and that the distinct nature of these interactions would differ for those with delusions when compared to those with hallucinations. More specifically, we rationalized that investigating the interactions between regional brain changes and genetic variants would be critical in identifying whether the functional effects of specific genetic polymorphisms are unmasked as a result of regional brain changes arising from AD. We predicted that delusions and hallucinations are predominantly caused by the interaction of right frontal brain changes and genetic polymorphisms in dopaminergic, cholinergic, or glutamatergic neurotransmitter systems.

Chapter 2

2 Methods

2.1 ADNI Overview

Data used in the preparation of this article was obtained from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) database (adni.loni.usc.edu). The ADNI was launched in 2003 as a public-private partnership, led by Principal Investigator Michael W. Weiner, MD. The primary goal of ADNI has been to test whether serial magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission tomography (PET), other biological markers, and clinical and neuropsychological assessments can be combined to measure the progression of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and early Alzheimer's disease (AD). All subjects in ADNI undergo both cognitive and clinical assessments and have structural MRIs taken for 2-3 years at pre-scheduled intervals. AD patients undergo a baseline assessment and then an assessment at, 6, 12 and 24 months. MCI patients at high risk for conversion to AD undergo a baseline assessment and then subsequent assessments at 6, 12, 18, 24 and 36 months. Participants from earlier ADNI cohorts were also followed in ADNI2/GO and ADNI3 where they were assessed at baseline enrollment, month 3, month 6, month 12, and annually thereafter. For up-to-date information, see www.adni-info.org.

2.2 Participants

Subjects were selected from the ADNI database and categorized into distinct subgroups based on endorsed symptoms of psychosis as assessed by the Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI)⁴³ or Neuropsychiatric Inventory questionnaire (NPI-Q)⁴⁴. Inclusion criteria for patients endorsing psychotic symptoms included a clinical diagnosis of AD or MCI due to AD, at least one episode of delusions or hallucinations as assessed by either the NPI or NPI-Q delusion and/or hallucination domain scores, an available UCSF volumetric measurement of a 1.5T or 3T MRI scan at or after the first onset of psychosis (delusions/hallucinations), and genome wide analysis data. Inclusion criteria for control participants included a clinical diagnosis of AD, the absence of delusions and hallucinations throughout the course of the ADNI studies, at least three available UCSF volumetric measurement of a 1.5T or 3T MRI scan, and available genome wide analysis data, as of ADNI data available on January 1, 2018. Exclusion criteria for both groups included a history of brain injury, other neurological disorders (ex. Dementia with Lewy Bodies, Parkinson's disease etc.), psychiatric disorders (ex. Schizophrenia, Bipolar

disorder etc.) or strokes, as determined based on clinical assessment, which could account for the presence of delusions and/or hallucinations.

All participants who developed psychotic symptoms were matched as closely as possible with AD patients that did not develop that particular symptom (i.e. hallucinations or delusions) for disease severity using the scores from the Clinical Dementia Rating scale (CDR) global score, sex, age, cognitive ability using the Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE) total score, years of education, number of ApoE4 alleles, and MRI scanner strength. To match the group of participants endorsing symptoms of psychosis with the control group, the range of values of age, education, CDR global score, and MMSE total score for those endorsing symptoms of delusions and/or hallucinations were applied as a filter to the available control group.

2.3 Demographic and Behavioural Data Analysis

Delusion and hallucination domain scores from the Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q) and the full Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI) were extracted from the ADNI database for participants meeting the inclusion criteria as defined above on January 1, 2018. Phase 1 of ADNI (ADNI-1) used the NPI-Q which provides a binary response (yes or no) to assess the presence or absence of symptoms for each domain. Phase 2 of ADNI (ADNI-GO/2) used the full NPI which allows for the identification of specific subtypes of neuropsychiatric symptoms. Prompts for the delusion domain on the NPI include paranoid ideations such as believing that their life is in danger or that others are stealing from them, and misidentification phenomenon such as believing that their spouse is not who they claim to be. Prompts for the hallucination domain on the NPI include endorsement of abnormal visual, auditory, olfactory, or tactile sensations and/or perceptions in the absence of any external stimuli; for example, hearing voices or seeing things that are not actually present. For participants endorsing psychotic symptoms on multiple visits, data from the first ADNI visit in which psychotic symptoms (delusions/hallucinations) were present were included in the analysis. For the control group, the NPI and NPI-Q scores for all available ADNI visits were reviewed to ensure that participants did not develop delusions and/or hallucinations over their disease course.

2.4 Neuroimaging Data Preprocessing and FreeSurfer Analysis

High resolution anatomical T1weighted images were preprocessed by the Mayo Clinic. Initial preprocessing included a two-step quality assessment procedure. The first step involved assessing adherence to defined ADNI MRI collection protocol. The second preprocessing step involved series-specific quality assessment and included gradient warping, scaling, and correction for image intensity and inhomogenities. Preprocessed ADNI cross-sectional data [UCSFFSX] images were then analyzed by the UCSF ADNI group (Co-I Norbert Schuff) using FreeSurfer version 4.3 for images collected at 1.5T and FreeSurfer version 5.1 for images collected at 3T. Although two different fieldstrengths were used, FreeSurfer procedures have been shown to have good re-test reliability across field strengths^{116,117}. The T1 weighted images were processed and segmented using the 2010 Deskian-Killany atlas and the 2009 Destrieux atlas. Briefly, the processing steps included segmentation of grey matter, white matter and subcortical structures and subsequent cortical parcellation. A visual quality control was performed to assess overall segmentation accuracy^{118–129}. It is important to note that cortical thickness estimates have been shown to vary across different versions of FreeSurfer¹³⁰, but it has also been shown that within the ADNI cohorts, FreeSurfer version does not affect the reliability of patient classification on diagnostic group (healthy controls, MCI or AD) based on cortical thickness measurements obtained from FreeSurfer¹³¹.

In order to conduct a whole brain analysis, eighty-two cortical and subcortical regions of interest (ROI) from the UCSF FreeSurfer cross-sectional ADNI data analysis were included (Appendix A). Cortical thickness and subcortical volume measurements for the ROIs were extracted. To account for individual variations in brain size, all subcortical volume measurements were adjusted for total intracranial volume (TIV). This was done since prior literature suggests that volume but not cortical thickness measurements are highly correlated with TIV ^{132–134}. MRI data was only included if it passed or partially passed regional image segmentation quality assessment of the frontal, temporal, occipital and basal ganglia regions. For subsequent statistical analyses, volume and cortical

thickness measurements were adjusted for sex, age, years of education, CDR global score, MMSE total scores, either through regression models or by including these variables as covariates. All cortical and subcortical measurements were also transformed into z-scores before further analyses.

2.5 Genetic Data Acquisition and Preprocessing

DNA information was derived from one of two sources: 1) peripheral blood, or 2) immortalized lymphocyte cell lines. ADNI-1 participants were genotyped using the Illumina Human610-Quad BeadChip (Illumina, Inc. San Diego, CA). All genotyping and initial preprocessing was conducted by the ADNI Genetics Core group. Further details on genotyping methods and preprocessing have been outlined by the ADNI Genetics Core group ¹³⁵. Initial quality control (QC) and imputation was performed by Sejal Patel and the lab of Dr. Jo Knight at the University of Toronto. Genotype imputation is a procedure whereby unsequenced SNPs are inferred based on directly sequenced SNPs. This procedure works on the premise that groups of SNPs are likely to be inherited together (haplotypes). SNPs that have been sequenced act as markers which are then compared to the haplotypes of individuals in a reference panel (ex. HapMap). Regions of shared genotypes between the sequenced individuals and the reference panel are then identified. The reference panel is then used to infer unsequenced genotypes for SNPs that were not directly sequenced¹³⁶.

QC was performed on the ADNI1 GWAS data (N=757) using PLINK (version 1.07, Purcell et al., 2007). Individuals with discordant sex information (when samples are incorrectly marked as male or female based on ascertained sex), high level of missing data (> 2%) and heterozygosity rates greater than three standard deviations from the mean were removed from the sample. One of each pair of individuals displaying a high level of pair-wise identity by descent (IBD > 0.185) were also removed. In addition, SNPs with minor allele frequency (MAF) <1% and Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (p < 1x10⁻⁷) were removed. After QC, 662 individuals remained in the analysis set. Multidimensional scaling (MDS) was performed in PLINK using HapMap3¹³⁸ as a reference panel. When the population was compared with the CEU (CEPH - Utah residents with ancestry from northern and western Europe), YRI (Yoruba in Ibadan, Nigeria), JPT (Japanese in Tokyo, Japan), TSI (Tuscans in Italy) and CHB (Han Chinese in Beijing, China) ancestry, the sample clustered around CEU and TSI sample. MDS was subsequently carried out with the ADNI1, CEU, TSI and Jewish ancestry samples and aligned completely with the later three samples. The ADNI1 dataset was imputed using 1000 Genomes Phase I integrated variant set (March 2012). Given the small sample size of participants that were of non-Hispanic Caucasian ethnicity, these individuals were removed prior to subsequent analysis to control for any confounding effects. From the preprocessed data, we then selected only participants meeting the inclusion criteria defined above.

2.6 Candidate SNP Selection

After conducting a thorough review of the literature, we identified SNPs with known functional consequences and associations with neuropsychiatric symptoms, focusing in particular on SNPs in the following genes in the cholinergic system: BCHE, ACHE, CHRNA7, CHRNA4, CHRNB2; and in the following genes in the dopaminergic system: COMT, DRD1, DRD2, DRD3; and in the glutamatergic system: GRIN1, GRIN2A, GRIN2B, GRIN2C, GRIN2D, GRIN3A. Concluding our review, we selected 15 candidate SNPs to include (Table 1,2). Given that there is limited literature on SNPs in neurotransmitter systems that may be associated with psychosis in AD, the SNPs that we selected have previously been reported to be implicated in the development of psychotic symptoms in other neurodegenerative or psychiatric disorders, associated with AD, and/or to have functional consequences on transcript or protein levels. SNP data were recoded into disjunctive format prior to additional analyses. Using this format, each SNP was treated as a categorical variable with three levels (i.e. homozygous dominant, heterozygous, homozygous recessive). The advantages of coding SNPs using this genotypic model have been outlined previously in Beaton, Dunlop, & Abdi $(2015)^{139}$, and include being able to assess the contribution of different alleles and genotypes to observed phenotypic traits or behaviours. This is particularly important because the minor or major allele coding scheme is often subjective and based on a particular cohort of participants. As such, what is coded as the major or minor allele in one study may vary across studies with different samples of participants. Using the genotypic model therefore

allows us to treat each genotype as a categorical variable and investigate the unique contribution of each genotype using a more general approach. To ensure that we were sufficiently powered to assess the effects of different alleles/genotypes, homozygous recessive genotypes with frequencies < 5%, were combined with heterozygous genotypes to form one category (?a). This second grouping encompassed individuals with both the homozygous recessive genotype (aa) and the heterozygous genotype (Aa).

Table 1. Candidate single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the Cholinergic (BCHE,CHRNA7) and the Dopaminergic (COMT, DRD1, DRD2, DRD3) neurotransmittersystems.

Gene	Chromosome	SNP	Literature Summary	Key Findings
Butyrylcholinesterase (BCHE)	3	rs1803274	Darvesh, Hopkins & Geula., (2003) ¹⁴⁰ Yoo et al., (2014) ¹⁴¹	 BCHE – K variant has reduced catalytic activity, about 30% of the usual BChE BCHE-K protects against pathology of AD that affects frontal cortical thickness and neuropsychiatric symptoms
Cholinergic Receptor, Nicotinic Alpha 7 Subunit (CHRNA7)	15	rs6494223	Carson et al., (2008) ¹⁰⁰	• Frequency of delusional symptoms was higher in patients homozygous for the T allele compared to the CC or CT genotypes
Catechol-O- Methyltransferase (COMT)	22	rs4680	Rosa et al., (2004) ¹⁴²	 Val carriers have high enzyme activity, may have reduced dopamine levels in the prefrontal cortex, leading to decrease in D1 receptors activation Can lead to impairment in working memory
Dopamine Receptor D1 (DRD1)	5	rs686	Huang et al., (2008) ¹⁴³	• G allele of rs686 decreases the levels of DRD1 expression by inhibiting the binding of microRNA miR-504 to the DRD1 3'-UTR
Dopamine Receptor D2 (DRD2)	11	rs6277	Duan et al., (2003) ¹⁴⁴	 Reported 50% of the time, 957C>T, decreased DRD2 mRNA stability and translation and reduced dopamine- induced-up-regulation of DRD2 membrane expression in vitro Alters the folding of the mRNA, mRNA is less stable which leads to markedly reduced protein synthesis rates
Dopamine Receptor D2 (DRD2)	11	rs1076560	Bertolino et al., (2009) ¹⁴⁵	• Intronic SNP rs1076560 strongly associated with D2 short isoform/D2 long isoform ratios with GG schizophrenia subjects showing a higher percentage of the D2 short
				isoform mRNA in prefrontal cortex than GT subjects
--------------------------------	----	-----------	--------------------------------------	---
Dopamine Receptor D2 (DRD2)	11	rs1800497	Makoff et al., (2000) ¹⁴⁶	• C allele is a risk factor for hallucinations. This finding was found to be clinically significant in context of advanced neurodegeneration of chronic PD
Dopamine Receptor D3 (DRD3)	3	rs6280	Savitz et al., (2013) ¹⁴⁷	 Only known polymorphism that alters protein structure in this gene Glycine allele yields D3 autoreceptors that have a higher affinity for DA and display more robust intracellular signaling

Table 2. Candidate single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the Glutamatergic(GRIN2A, GRIN2B, GRIN3A, GRIN3B) neurotransmitter system.

Gene	Chromosome	SNP	Literature Summary	Key Findings
Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 2A (GRIN2A)	16	rs9922678	Schizophrenia Working Group., (2014) ¹⁴⁸	• Minor homozygote associated with the development of schizophrenia (OR=1.06)
Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 2B (GRIN2B)	12	rs1805502	Weickert et al., (2013) ¹⁴⁹	 NR1 and NR2C mRNA decreased in post-mortem brain analysis of those with schizophrenia Found that the expression of NR1 subunit mRNA was significantly reduced in patients with schizophrenia who were C carriers of the SNP rs1805502 when compared to heterozygous controls (p =.008)
Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 2B (GRIN2B)	12	rs1806201	Andreoli et al., (2014) ¹⁵⁰	• Significant contribution from the GRIN2B rs1806201 T allele towards Alzheimer's disease susceptibility (adjusted odds ratio (OR=1.92, (95%CI: 1.40–2.63))
Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 2B (GRIN2B)	12	rs10845840	Stein et al., (2010) ¹¹⁵	• Risk alleles for lower temporal lobe volume at this SNP were significantly over-represented in AD and MCI subjects versus controls (OR=1.27; p =.039)
Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 3A (GRIN3A)	9	rs3739722	Liu et al., (2009) ¹⁵¹	• Genetic variation of the NR3A, but not NR3B, subunit of the NMDA receptor may be a risk factor for AD pathogenesis among the Taiwanese population
Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 3A (GRIN3A)	9	rs10989591	Gallinat et al., (2007) ¹⁵²	• T,T individuals appeared to show better prefrontal information processing (higher frontal P300 amplitudes), could reflect higher NMDA receptor efficacy
Glutamate Ionotropic Receptor NMDA Type Subunit 3B (GRIN3B/ABCA7 -in linkage disequilibrium with GRIN3B)	19	rs3764650	Karch et al., (2012) ¹⁵³	• Minor allele associated with a later age of AD onset and shorter disease course

2.7 Statistical Analysis

Independent samples t-tests were used to compare age, years of education, MMSE total score and CDR global score for participants endorsing psychotic symptoms of interest and control groups. For the comparison of multiple cohorts of participants with psychotic symptoms, a Kruskal-Wallis test was used to determine group differences. Chi-square tests were used to compare the two groups on sex distribution, number of ApoE4 alleles, and scanner strength (1.5T vs. 3T).

2.7.1 Partial Least Squares Correspondence Analysis: Overview

Partial least squares correspondence analysis (PLS-CA) is a multivariate analysis technique that is both a generalization of partial-least squares correlation (used in neuroimaging studies) and an extension of correspondence analysis (dimension reduction technique for categorical variables). This method was formalized by Beaton and colleagues and is extensively detailed in their paper ¹³⁹. To summarize, unlike traditional PLS, PLS-CA is able to simultaneously analyze two data sets that contain both continuous (i.e. neuroimaging) and categorical (i.e. genetic) variables. This process works through transforming continuous variables, like cortical thickness and subcortical volume measurements, into pseudo-categorical variables using an Escofier transformation. PLS-CA uses generalized singular value decomposition to identify orthogonal pairs of underlying latent variables, with the first extracted pair explaining the greatest amount of covariance in the data sets. Non-parametric inferencing methods such as permutation and bootstrap resampling techniques are used to identify significant and stable components. With bootstrap confidence intervals, in particular, allowing for the post-hoc identification of group level differences. In addition, through the use of PLS-CA, we are able to treat SNPs as categorical variables, instead of as numeric based on the frequency of either the minor or major allele, thereby allowing us to examine how different SNP genotypes contribute to different effects within our sample. Overall, the PLS-CA approach can be used to identify global level interactions. These interactions can be inferred based on the latent factor and variable plots for each component. More specifically, ROIs and

genotypes that are in the same direction as one another, on the same component, can be inferred to be interacting together.

2.7.2 PLS-CA

Three independent PLS-CA were conducted to identify neuroanatomical and genetic correlates of delusions and hallucinations. The rationale behind separating the analyses into three different parts was to more closely examine the neuroanatomical and genetic interactions with increased power resulting from a larger sample size. This was achieved by first using a binary categorization scheme to identify interactions associated with the presence vs. absence of delusions and subsequently the neuroanatomical and genetic interactions associated with the presence vs. absence of hallucinations. The final analysis, which combined both of the aforementioned cohorts, was conducted to identify and parse any *differences* in neuroanatomical and genetic interactions for those with symptoms of hallucinations, delusions or both. 82 ROIs and 15 SNPs were included in the analysis. All cortical thickness and subcortical volume measurements were adjusted for participant age, sex, years of education, MMSE total score, CDR global score, number of ApoE4 alleles, and scanner strength. To account for inter-individual differences in brain size, all subcortical volumes were also adjusted for total intracranial volume. Significance of each component was tested using 1000 permutations (p < 0.05). Significance of the variables contributing to each component was assessed using 1000 bootstrapped samples (bootstrap ratio > 2.0). Three different PLS-CA analyses were conducted with the subgroups categorized as follows:

Analysis 1: Delusion Cohort (Binary Categorization). The first analysis categorized patients with AD/MCI into two groups based on the presence or absence of symptoms of delusions, irrespective of any other neuropsychiatric symptom. The two groups were categorized as follows: 1) AD patients who never endorsed symptoms of delusions throughout the duration of their ADNI visits (AD-D), and 2) AD or MCI patients who endorsed symptoms of delusions at their baseline ADNI visit or who developed symptoms of delusions over their disease course (AD+D)

Analysis 2: Hallucination Cohort (Binary Categorization). The second analysis categorized patients with AD/MCI into two groups based on the presence or absence of hallucinations, irrespective of any other neuropsychiatric symptom. The two groups were categorized as follows: 1) AD or MCI patients who never endorsed symptoms of hallucinations throughout the duration of their ADNI visits (AD – H), and 2) AD or MCI patients who endorsed symptoms of hallucinations at their baseline ADNI visit or who developed symptoms of hallucinations over their disease course (AD+H).

Analysis 3: Combined Cohort (4 groups – to directly compare the interactions between brain regions and SNPs in those with AD+D, AD+H, AD+DH and AD-DH).

The final analysis aggregated all patients with AD/MCI that had symptoms of hallucinations and delusions, or the absence of these symptoms, into one analysis. In this analysis, patients were categorized into four distinct groups: 1) AD patients who never endorsed symptoms of delusions or hallucinations throughout the duration of their ADNI visits (AD-DH); 2) AD or MCI patients who endorsed only symptoms of hallucinations at their baseline ADNI visit or who developed symptoms of hallucinations over their disease course (AD+H); 3) AD or MCI patients who endorsed only symptoms of delusions at their baseline ADNI visit or who developed symptoms of delusions over their disease course (AD+H); and 4) patients who endorsed symptoms of both delusions and hallucinations (AD+DH), at the identified ADNI visit.

PLS-CA was conducted using R (Version 3.5.2) and the related statistic packages, ExPosition and TExPosition (Beaton, Chin Fatt, & Abdi 2014; Beaton, Rieck, Fatt, & Abdi, 2013), using the pipeline proposed in Beaton et al., 2015.

2.7.3 Principal Component Analysis and Binary Logistic Regression

To cross-validate brain regions identified by the PLS-CA, binary logistic regression analyses for all participants with available imaging data (irrespective of GWAS availability) were run for both the hallucination and delusion cohorts. Principal component analysis (PCA) with varimax rotation and Kaiser normalization was used as a dimension reduction technique to reduce the 82 ROIs into components. All cortical thickness and subcortical volumes for each ROI were transformed into Z-scores across subjects prior to running the PCA. Following the PCA, the rotated component matrix was inspected and any components that did not have any ROIs that loaded most strongly to a particular component were excluded. The component scores for each retained component were then entered into binary logistic regression models with the dependent variable being either the presence/absence of delusions or the presence/absence of hallucinations. Additional covariates in the model included age, years of education, sex, CDR global score, MMSE total score, number of ApoE4 alleles and MRI scanner strength. Follow-up logistic regression models were run by removing any variables that were not significant in the prior model. Given the high degree of multicollinearity between ROIs in the identified components, post-hoc analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with FDR correction was used to identify specific ROIs that may be contributing to the presence of hallucinations.

PCA, binary logistic regression and post-hoc ANCOVAs were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac, Version 25.0.

3 Results

3.1 Imaging and Genetics: PLS-CA Results

3.1.1 Delusion Cohort

A total of 188 participants were identified from the ADNI-1 database as meeting the inclusion criteria. Of these, n=66 endorsed symptoms of delusions (AD+D), and n=122 did not endorse symptoms of delusions (AD-D). Independent samples t-test comparing age, years of education, CDR global score, and MMSE total score, did not identify any significant differences between the two groups. Additional chi-square tests did not identify any group differences in sex distribution, MRI field strength, or number of ApoE4 alleles (Table 3). The minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest were calculated for the entire cohort and are reported in Table 4.

Results of the PLS-CA did not identify any significant differences in interactions between ROIs and SNPs that separated those with delusions from those without (Omnibus: $p_{perm} = .118$, Component 1: $p_{perm} = .161$). Despite not reaching the threshold for significance, Component 1 explained 40.45% of the variance in the dataset (Figure 1A). Although not significant, the interaction of specific ROIs and SNPs that are more closely associated with the delusion cohort, are ROIs with cortical thickness values below the grand mean (ROIs below the horizontal axis in Figure 1B, see Table 5 for complete list of ROIs) and SNPs that are to the left of the vertical axis in Figure 1B.

	Del (A N	usions D+D) = 66	No D (A N	elusions D-D) = 122		
	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)	t	p-value
Age	75.94	6.6	76.07	7.1	0.1	.91
Years of Education	15.18	2.9	15.16	3.1	-0.06	.96
CDR Global Score	0.88	0.43	0.92	0.43	0.7	.51
MMSE Total Score	22.67	4.5	21.47	4.3	-1.8	.075
	Males	Females	Males	Females	Fischer's Exa	ct Test (2-sided)
Sex (%)	53.0	47.0	62.3	37.7	0	.277
MRI Field Strength	1.5T	3T	1.5T	<i>3T</i>	Fischer's Exa	ct Test (2-sided)
	64	2	119	3	1	.00
	Del	usions (AD	D+D)		No Delusions ((AD-D)
Number of ApoE4 alleles	0	1	2	0	1	2
	22	31	13	41	58	23

 Table 3. PLS-CA Delusion Cohort: Demographic and disease profile.

е

Delusion Cohort PLS-CA, N=188					
Gene	SNP	Minor Allele	Minor Allele Frequency		
BCHE	rs1803274	Т	0.170		
CHRNA7	rs6494223	Т	0.402		
COMT	rs4680	А	0.484		
DRD1	rs686	G	0.359		
DRD2	rs1076560	А	0.830		
DRD2	rs1800497	А	0.221		
DRD2	rs6277	G	0.431		
DRD3	rs6280	С	0.370		
GRIN2A	rs9922678	А	0.330		
GRIN2B	rs10845840	Т	0.492		
GRIN2B	rs1805502	G	0.156		
GRIN2B	rs1806201	А	0.338		
GRIN3A	rs10989591	Т	0.293		
GRIN3A	rs3739722	Т	0.100		
GRIN3B	rs3764650	G	0.080		

Table 4. PLS-CA - Delusion Cohort. Minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest



Delusio <u>Omnibus p</u>	n Cohort <u>o-value</u> : .118
Component	P-value
1	0.16
2	0.67
3	0.38
4	0.13
5	0.64









Figure 1. Delusion Cohort PLS-CA results. A. Component p-values and latent variable (LV) plot for Component 1. The horizontal axis represents the SNPs and the vertical axis represents the brain regions of interest. Ellipsoids indicate boot-strap confidence intervals (95%) B. Neuroimaging boot-strap regression results for Component 1 with blue bars indicating significant brain regions. Red dashed line indicates the threshold for significance (+2 and -2) C. Single nucleotide polymorphisms boot-strap regression results for Component 1 with blue bars indicating significant SNPs.

Delusion Cohort - ROIs more closely associated with the delusion cohort for Component 1 ST102TA RightParacentral ST40TA LeftMiddleTemporal ST102TA RightParacentral ST43TA LeftParacentral ST105TA RightParsOrbitalis ST45TA LeftParsOpercularis ST106TA RightParsTriangularis ST47TA LeftParsTriangularis ST108TA RightPostCentral ST49TA LeftPostCentral ST51TA LeftPrecentral ST110TA RightPrecentral ST111TA RightPrecuneus ST52TA LeftPrecuneus ST114TA RightRostralMiddleFrontal ST55TA LeftRostralMiddleFrontal ST115TA RightSuperiorFrontal ST56TA LeftSuperiorFrontal ST116TA RightSuperiorParietal ST57TA LeftSuperiorParietal ST58TA LeftSuperiorTemporal ST117TA RightSuperiorTemporal ST59TA LeftSupramarginal ST118TA RightSupramarginal ST121TA RightTransverseTemporal ST60TA LeftTemporalPole ST130TA RightInsula ST74TA RightCaudalMiddleFrontal ST15TA LeftCaudalMiddleFrontal ST82TA RightCuneus ST26TA LeftFusiform ST85TA RightFusiform ST31TA LeftInferiorParietal ST90TA RightInferiorParietal ST32TA LeftInferiorTemporal ST91TA RightInferiorTemporal ST34TA LeftIsthmusCingulate ST94TA RightLateralOccipital ST35TA LeftLateralOccipital ST99TA RightMiddleTemporal ST38TA LeftLingual

Table 5. Delusion Cohort: Neuroimaging boot-strap regression, summary of ROIs with cortical thickness values below the grand mean for Component 1.

3.1.2 Hallucination Cohort

A total of 117 participants were identified from the ADNI-1 database as meeting the inclusion criteria. Of these, n=36 endorsed symptoms of hallucinations (AD+H), and n=81 did not endorse symptoms of hallucinations (AD-H). Independent samples t-test comparing age, years of education, CDR global score, and MMSE total score, did not identify any significant differences between the two groups. Additional chi-square tests did not identify any group differences in sex distribution, MRI field strength, or number of ApoE4 alleles (Table 6). The minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest were calculated for the entire cohort and are reported in Table 7.

Results of the PLS-CA identified a trend towards significance for Component 1, with the interaction of ROIs and SNPs in Component 1 explaining 45.44% of the variance in the dataset (Omnibus: $p_{perm} = .049$, Component 1: $p_{perm} = .059$; Figure 2A). Boot strap analysis showed that cortical thickness and subcortical volumes below the grand mean for bilateral frontal regions, bilateral cingulate regions, bilateral temporal regions, bilateral fusiform, right entorhinal, left inferior parietal, right lingual, right precuneus, right insula, and right accumbens area (Figure 2B; see Table 8 for complete list of ROIs) were associated with the major homozygote of rs3764650 in GRIN3B, and the minor homozygote of rs9922678 in GRIN2A (Figure 2C). This pattern of brain structure and combination of SNPs was more closely associated with those with symptoms of hallucinations when compared to those without.

	Hallu (A N	cinations D+H) = 36	Hallu (A N	No cinations D-H) = 81			_
	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)	t	p-value	
Age	74.89	7.1	75.85	6.2	.74	.46	
Years of Education	14.56	3.1	15.44	2.9	1.5	.14	
CDR Global Score	1.28	0.61	1.12	0.33	-1.42	.16	
MMSE Total Score	20.22	5.4	20.77	4.4	.57	.57	
	Males	Females	Males	Females	Fischer's Exa	ct Test (2-sided)	
Sex (%)	52.8	47.2	58.0	42.0	0.	.687	
MRI Field Strength	1.5T	<i>3T</i>	1.5T	3 T	Fischer's Exa	ct Test (2-sided)	
	36	0	78	3	0.	.552	
	Halluc	cinations (A	AD+H)	No	Hallucination	s (AD-H)	
Number of ApoE4 alleles	0	1	2	0	1	2	Pearson Chi-Se
	10	21	5	25	39	17	.54

Table 6. PLS-CA Hallucination Cohort: Demographic and disease profile

Table 7. PLS-CA - Hallucination Cohort. Minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest.

Hallucination Cohort N = 117						
Gene	SNP	Minor Allele	Minor Allele Frequency			
BCHE	rs1803274	Т	0.171			
CHRNA7	rs6494223	Т	0.427			
COMT	rs4680	А	0.483			
DRD1	rs686	G	0.371			
DRD2	rs1076560	А	0.171			
DRD2	rs1800497	А	0.235			
DRD2	rs6277	G	0.432			
DRD3	rs6280	С	0.346			
GRIN2A	rs9922678	А	0.329			
GRIN2B	rs10845840	С	0.470			
GRIN2B	rs1805502	G	0.141			
GRIN2B	rs1806201	А	0.350			
GRIN3A	rs10989591	Т	0.303			
GRIN3A	rs3739722	Т	0.120			
GRIN3B	rs3764650	G	0.081			

Hallucin <u>Omnibus</u>	ation Cohort <u>p-value</u> : .049
Component	P-value
1	0.06
2	0.20
3	0.17
4	0.43
5	0.17



SNP LV (Component 1)



Figure 2. Hallucination Cohort PLS-CA results. A. Component p-values and latent variable (LV) plot for Component 1. The horizontal axis represents the SNPs and the vertical axis represents the brain regions of interest. Ellipsoids indicate boot-strap confidence intervals (95%) B. Neuroimaging boot-strap regression results for Component 1 with blue bars indicating significant cortical regions and red bars indicating significant subcortical regions. Red dashed line indicates the threshold for significance (+2 and -2) C. Single nucleotide polymorphisms boot-strap regression results for Component 1 with blue bars indicating significant SNPs.

Figure 2C.

Hallucination Cohort - Significan subcortical volumes b	Hallucination Cohort - Significant ROIs with cortical thickness and subcortical volumes below the grand mean.					
ST104TA_RightParsOpercularis	ST45TA_LeftParsOpercularis					
ST105TA_RightParsOrbitalis	ST46TA_LeftParsOrbitalis					
ST106TA_RightParsTriangularis	ST49TA_LeftPostCentral					
ST109TA_RightPosteriorCingulate	ST51TA_LeftPrecentral					
ST110TA_RightPrecentral	ST56TA_LeftSuperiorFrontal					
ST111TA_RightPrecuneus	ST58TA_LeftSuperiorTemporal					
ST114TA_RightRostralMiddleFrontal	ST59TA_LeftSupramarginal					
ST15TA_LeftCaudalMiddleFrontal	ST62TA_LeftTransverseTemporal					
ST117TA_RightSuperiorTemporal	ST74TA_RightCaudalMiddleFrontal					
ST118TA_RightSupramarginal	ST83TA_RightEntorhinal					
ST119TA_RightTemporalPole	ST85TA_RightFusiform					
ST121TA_RightTransverseTemporal	ST91TA_RightInferiorTemporal					
ST130TA_RightInsula	ST93TA_RightIsthmusCingulate					
ST15TA_LeftCaudalMiddleFrontal	ST95TA_RightLateralOrbitofrontal					
ST26TA_LeftFusiform	ST97TA_RightLingual					
ST31TA LeftInferiorParietal	ST99TA_RightMiddleTemporal					
ST34TA_LeftIsthmusCingulate	ST70SV_RightAccumbensArea					
ST39TA_LeftMedialOrbitofrontal						
ST40TA_LeftMiddleTemporal						

Table 8. Hallucination Cohort: Neuroimaging boot-strap regression, summary ofsignificant ROIs with cortical thickness values below the grand mean for Component 1.

3.1.3 Combined Cohort

A total of 207 participants were identified from the ADNI-1 database as meeting the inclusion criteria. Of these, n=21 endorsed symptoms of hallucinations only (AD+H), n=54 endorsed symptoms of delusions only (AD+D), n=10 endorsed symptoms of both hallucinations and delusions (AD+DH), and n=116 did not endorse symptoms of hallucinations (AD-H). A Kruskal-Wallis test with Bonferroni correction of between group differences identified a significant difference in CDR global score between the groups, with the AD+H group having on average a greater CDR score (higher disease severity) than the AD+D group (p=.017). A significant difference was also identified for MMSE total scores, with the AD+H group having on average lower total scores on the MMSE than the AD+D group (p=.022). No significant between group differences were identified for the other cohorts of interest (Table 9). The minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest were calculated for the entire cohort and are reported in Table 10.

Results of the PLS-CA identified a trend towards significance for Component 1 (Omnibus: $p_{perm} = .057$, Component 1: $p_{perm} = .071$; Figure 3A), with the interaction of ROIs and SNPs in Component 1 explaining 44.16% of the variance in the dataset. (Figure 3A). Boot strap analysis showed that cortical thickness values below the grand mean for a number of bilateral frontal regions, bilateral temporal regions, bilateral parietal regions, bilateral fusiform, right entorhinal, left isthmus cingulate, left posterior cingulate, bilateral precuneus, right cuneus, left lingual, bilateral lateral occipital, and bilateral insula (Figure 3B; see Table 11 for complete list of ROIs), were associated with the major homozygotes of rs3764650 in GRIN3B and rs1803274 in BCHE, the minor homozygote/heterozygote of rs1805502 in GRIN2B, and with the minor homozygote of rs9922678 in GRIN2A (Figure 3C). This pattern of brain structure and combination of genotypes was more closely associated with the AD+DH group than with any other group. In contrast, cortical thickness values above the grand mean for the aforementioned ROIs were more closely associated with the major homozygote of rs1805502 in GRIN2B, the minor homozygote/heterozygote of rs3764650 in GRIN3B, and the minor homozygote/heterozygote of rs1803274 in BCHE. Moreover, this pattern of brain structure and combination of genotypes was more closely associated with the AD+H group than with any other group.

Table 9. PLS-CA Combined Cohort: Demographic and disease profile

	No Psycho N =	sis (AD-DH) = 116	Hallucin: (A) N	ations Only 0+H) = 21	Delusic (AI N =	ons Only)+D) = 54	Hallucin: Delusions N =	ations and (AD+DH) = 10				
	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(<i>S</i> D)	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(CD)	t	Kruskal-Wallis Test: p-value		
Age	76.25	7.0	75.19	6.7	75.94	6.9	75.10	5.7	0.62	0.892		
Years of Education	15.24	3.0	14.86	3.3	15.57	2.8	13.70	3.0	3.54	0.316		
CDR Global Score	0.89	0.4	1.29	0.7	0.80	0.3	1.30	0.6	13.30	0.004		
MMSE Total Score	22.09	4.1	19.52	5.7	23.19	4.4	20.20	5.0	10.46	0.015		
	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Pears	son Chi-Square (2-sided)		
Sex (%)	61.2	38.8	61.9	38.1	55.6	44.4	40.0	60.0		0.562		
MRI Field Strength	1.5T	3T	1.5T	3T	1.5T	3T	1.5T	3Т	Pears	son Chi-Square (2-sided)		
	114	2	21	0	52	2	10	0		0.686		
	No l	Psychosis (AD	(HQ-(Hallucinati	ons Only (/	AD+H)	Delusi	ons Only (AD+]	D)	Hallucinations and Delusions	s (AD+DH)	
Number of ApoE4 alleles	0	1	2	0	1	2	0	1	2	0	1 2	Pearson Chi-Square
	39	53	24	5	14	2	19	26	6	3	4 3	.623

Combined Cohort PLS-CA, N=201						
Gene	SNP	Minor Allele	Minor Allele Frequency			
BCHE	rs1803274	Т	0.177			
CHRNA7	rs6494223	Т	0.415			
COMT	rs4680	А	0.485			
DRD1	rs686	G	0.363			
DRD2	rs1076560	А	0.167			
DRD2	rs1800497	А	0.213			
DRD2	rs6277	G	0.430			
DRD3	rs6280	С	0.356			
GRIN2A	rs9922678	А	0.324			
GRIN2B	rs10845840	С	0.495			
GRIN2B	rs1805502	G	0.152			
GRIN2B	rs1806201	А	0.326			
GRIN3A	rs10989591	Т	0.286			
GRIN3A	rs3739722	Т	0.102			
GRIN3B	rs3764650	G	0.090			

 Table 10. PLS-CA - Combined Cohort. Minor allele frequencies for the 15 SNPs of interest

Figure 3A.

Figure 3B.

Combin <u>Omnibus r</u>	ed Cohort <u>o-value</u> : .057
Component	P-value
1	0.07
2	0.63
3	0.33
4	0.39
5	0.81





Figure 3. Combined Cohort PLS-CA results. **A.** Component p-values and latent variable (LV) plot for Component 1. The horizontal axis represents the SNPs and the vertical axis represents the brain regions of interest. Ellipsoids indicate boot-strap confidence intervals (95%) **B.** Neuroimaging boot-strap regression results for Component 1 with blue bars indicating significant brain regions. Red dashed line indicates the threshold for significance (+2 and -2) **C.** Single nucleotide polymorphisms boot-strap regression results for Component 1 with blue bars indicating significant SNPs.

Table 11. Combined Cohort: Neuroimaging boot-strap regression, summary ofsignificant ROIs with cortical thickness values below the grand mean for Component 1.

Combined Cohort - Significant ROIs with cortical thickness values below the grand mean									
ST102TA_RightParacentral	ST43TA_LeftParacentral								
ST104TA_RightParsOpercularis	ST45TA_LeftParsOpercularis								
ST105TA_RightParsOrbitalis	ST46TA_LeftParsOrbitalis								
ST106TA_RightParsTriangularis	ST47TA_LeftParsTriangularis								
ST108TA_RightPostCentral	ST49TA_LeftPostCentral								
ST110TA_RightPrecentral	ST50TA_LeftPosteriorCingulate								
ST111TA_RightPrecuneus	ST51TA_LeftPrecentral								
ST114TA_RightRostralMiddleFrontal	ST52TA_LeftPrecuneus								
ST115TA_RightSuperiorFrontal	ST55TA_LeftRostralMiddleFrontal								
ST116TA_RightSuperiorParietal	ST56TA_LeftSuperiorFrontal								
ST117TA_RightSuperiorTemporal	ST57TA_LeftSuperiorParietal								
ST118TA_RightSupramarginal	ST58TA_LeftSuperiorTemporal								
ST119TA_RightTemporalPole	ST59TA_LeftSupramarginal								
ST121TA_RightTransverseTemporal	ST60TA_LeftTemporalPole								
ST129TA_LeftInsula	ST74TA_RightCaudalMiddleFrontal								
ST130TA_RightInsula	ST82TA_RightCuneus								
ST15TA_LeftCaudalMiddleFrontal	ST83TA_RightEntorhinal								
ST26TA_LeftFusiform	ST85TA_RightFusiform								
ST31TA_LeftInferiorParietal	ST90TA_RightInferiorParietal								
ST32TA_LeftInferiorTemporal	ST91TA_RightInferiorTemporal								
ST34TA_LeftIsthmusCingulate	ST94TA_RightLateralOccipital								
ST35TA_LeftLateralOccipital	ST95TA_RightLateralOrbitofrontal								
ST38TA_LeftLingual	ST99TA_RightMiddleTemporal								
ST39TA_LeftMedialOrbitofrontal	ST40TA_LeftMiddleTemporal								

3.2 Neuroimaging Only Analysis

3.2.1 Delusion Cohort

A total of 363 participants were identified from the ADNI database as meeting the inclusion criteria. Of these, n=143 endorsed symptoms of delusions (AD+D), and n=220 did not endorse symptoms of delusions (AD-D). Independent samples t-test comparing age, years of education, CDR global score, and MMSE total score identified a significant difference in MMSE total score between the two groups (p < .001), with the AD+D group on average having higher scores than the AD-D group. No significant differences were identified for any of the other covariates. Additional chi-square tests did not identify any group differences in sex distribution, MRI field strength, or number of ApoE4 alleles (Table 12).

A principal component analysis was conducted on the z-scores of 82 regions of interest with orthogonal rotation (varimax). The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure verified the sampling adequacy for the analysis, KMO = .95. The rotation converged in 11 iterations and 13 components were identified that had eigenvalues over Kaiser's criterion of 1 and in combination explained 75.35% of the variance. The rotated component matrix was then used to identify ROIs that loaded most strongly to each component. No ROI loaded most strongly to component 12 and as such only components 1-11, 13 were retained for subsequent analyses. The 12 retained components reflected the following regions: 1) Bilateral frontal, parietal, occipital, and temporal, 2) bilateral orbitofrontal, middle frontal, frontal pole, orbitalis, 3) bilateral entorhinal cortex, amygdala, temporal pole, parahippocampal, insula, 4) left inferior, superior, middle, fusiform, isthmus cingulate, 5) bilateral caudal ACC, rostral ACC, posterior cingulate, right isthmus cingulate, 6) bilateral lingual, cuneus, pericalcarine, 7) right inferior temporal, superior temporal, middle temporal, fusiform, 8) bilateral pallidum, putamen, 9) bilateral caudate, 10) bilateral cerebellum, 11) bilateral thalamus, 13) bilateral accumbens area (Table 13). Component scores for each participant were also extracted for subsequent analyses.

The initial logistic regression analysis included the component scores for the 12 components described above in addition to the following covariates, age, sex, years of

education, CDR global score, MMSE total score, number of APOE4 alleles, and scanner strength. The overall model was significant $\chi^2(20) = 33.01$, p = .034. The model explained 11.8 % (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in delusions and correctly classified 66.9% of cases. The Wald criterion demonstrated that MMSE total scores (p= .004, Exp(B)=1.11 (95%CI: 1.04-1.20) made significant contributions to the presence of delusions. Trends towards significance were also identified for Component 2 (p= .068, Exp(B)=.80 (95%CI: .63-1.02), and Component 3 (p=.074, Exp(B)= 1.26 (95%CI: .98-1.62).

	\overline{c}	2 2			_ 01	1	
	Del (A N	elusions No De AD+D) (Al N = 143 N =		elusions D-D) = 220			
	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)	t	p-value	
Age	74.80	7.2	75.94	7.3	1.5	.15	
Years of Education	15.31	3.0	15.18	2.8	-0.41	.69	
CDR Global Score	0.90	0.46	0.93	0.42	0.64	.52	
MMSE Total Score	22.94	4.3	21.28	4.2	-3.66	<.001	
	Males	Females	Males	Females	Fischer's Exact	Test (2-sided)	
Sex (%)	52.4	47.6	58.6	41.4	0.2	79	
MRI Field Strength	1.5T	3T	1.5T	3 T	Fischer's Exact	Test (2-sided)	
	89	54	150	70	0.2	59	
	Del	usions (AD	D+D)		No Delusions (A		
Number of ApoE4 alleles	0	1	2	0	1	2	Pearson Chi-Squar
	42	72	29	75	100	45	.595

Table 12. Imaging only analysis: Delusion cohort demographic and disease profile

Table 13. Delusion Cohort: Rotated component matrix. Colours indicate ROIs loading most strongly to ea	ch
component based on component scores. Loadings below 0.3 have been suppressed. R = Right, L=Left.	

	Components												
FreeSurfer ROIs	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
R Precentral	0.85												
R Superior Parietal	0.83												
R PostCentral	0.825												
L Precentral	0.824												
L Post Central	0.807												
R Paracentral	0.803												
R Caudal Middle Frontal	0.799	0.322											
L Superior Parietal	0.795												
L Paracentral	0.791												
R Precuneus	0.79												
R Supramarginal	0.77						0.383						
L Precuneus	0.767			0.362									
L Caudal Middle Frontal	0.766	0.313		0.324									
R Inferior Parietal	0.757						0.413						
L Superior Frontal	0.717	0.481											
L Supramarginal	0.703			0.439									
L Inferior Parietal	0.688			0.521									
R Superior Frontal	0.677	0.555											
R Lateral Occipital	0.615					0.472	0.306						
R Pars Opercularis	0.606	0.451											
R Bank STS	0.601						0.482						
L Pars Opercularis	0.569	0.481											
R Pars Triangularis	0.552	0.542											
L Lateral Occipital	0.546			0.388		0.496							
L Transverse Temporal	0.48											0.431	
R Transverse Temporal	0.447	0.303										0.39	
R Lateral Orbitofrontal		0.746											
L Lateral Orbitofrontal		0.719		0.3									
L Pars Orbitalis		0.702											
R Frontal Pole		0.702											
L Frontal Pole		0.691											
R Pars Orbitalis		0.682											
R Rostral Middle Frontal	0.571	0.653											
R Medial Orbitofrontal		0.652			0.304								
L Medial Orbitofrontal		0.646			0.301								

L Rostral Middle Frontal	0.562	0.645								
L Pars Triangularis	0.472	0.552								
L Entorhinal			0.791							
R Entorhinal			0.761							
R Amygdala			0.704							
R Temporal Pole			0.692				0.336			
L Amygdala			0.689							
L Temporal Pole			0.648	0.305						0.351
L Parahippocampal			0.549		0.362					
R Parahippocampal			0.541		0.356					
R Insula		0.341	0.44		0.403		0.405			
L Inferior Temporal			0.32	0.712						
L Middle Temporal	0.474			0.672						
L Bank STS	0.524			0.589						
L Fusiform	0.384		0.342	0.581						
L Superior Temporal	0.452		0.384	0.488						
L Isthmus Cingulate	0.388			0.4	0.382					
L Caudal Anterior Cingulate					0.669					
L Rostral Anterior Cingulate		0.331			0.651					
R Caudal Anterior Cingulate					0.606					
L Posterior Cingulate	0.454				0.579					
R Posterior Cingulate	0.462				0.568					
R Rostral Anterior Cingulate		0.361			0.495					
R Isthmus Cingulate	0.323				0.495				-	0.342
L Insula	0.305	0.308	0.395	0.306	0.402					
L Lingual	0.435			0.315		0.629				
R Cuneus	0.554					0.628				
R Lingual	0.458					0.615				
R Pericalcarine	0.512					0.611				
L Cuneus	0.517					0.597				
L Pericalcarine	0.518					0.566				
R Inferior Temporal	0.304		0.393				0.643			
R Middle Temporal	0.461		0.355				0.622			
R Superior Temporal	0.493		0.415				0.521			
R Fusiform	0.429		0.417				0.494			
L Pallidum								0.784		
R Pallidum								0.74		
R Putamen								0.636	0.509	
L Putamen								0.633	0.461	

L Caudate	0.877			
R Caudate	0.875			
R Cerebellum Cortex	(0.903		
L Cerebellum Cortex	(0.896		
R Thalamus			0.901	
L Thalamus			0.892	
L Accumbens Area				0.801
R Accumbens Area	0.419			0.581

3.2.1 Hallucination Cohort

A total of 233 participants were identified from the ADNI database as meeting the inclusion criteria. Of these, n=84 endorsed symptoms of hallucinations (AD+H), and n=149 did not endorse symptoms of hallucination (AD-H). Independent samples t-test comparing age, years of education, CDR global score, and MMSE total score did not identify any significant differences between the two groups. Additional chi-square tests did not identify any group differences in sex distribution, MRI field strength, or number of ApoE4 alleles (Table 14).

A principal component analysis was conducted on the z-scores of 82 regions of interest with orthogonal rotation (varimax). The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure verified the sampling adequacy for the analysis, KMO = .94. The rotation converged in 12 iterations and 13 components were identified that had eigenvalues over Kaiser's criterion of 1 and in combination explained 76.63% of the variance. The rotated component matrix was then used to identify ROIs that loaded most strongly to each component. No ROI loaded most strongly to component 13 and as such only the first 12 components were retained for subsequent analyses. The 12 retained components reflected the following regions: 1) bilateral frontal, parietal and occipital regions, 2) bilateral orbital frontal, middle frontal regions, 3) bilateral entorhinal cortex, amygdala, temporal poles, parahippocampal, insula, 4) left middle temporal, inferior temporal, superior temporal, fusiform, isthmus cingulate, 5) right superior, inferior and middle temporal, 6) bilateral lingual and right pericalcarine, 7) bilateral caudal ACC, left ACC, left posterior cingulate, 8) bilateral pallidum, putamen, 9) bilateral caudate, 10) bilateral cerebellum, 11) bilateral thalamus, 12) bilateral accumbens area (Table 15). Component scores for each participant were also extracted for subsequent analyses.

The initial logistic regression analysis included the component scores for the 12 components described above in addition to the following covariates, age, sex, years of education, CDR global score, MMSE total score, number of APOE4 alleles, and scanner strength. The overall model was significant $\chi^2(20) = 43.39 \text{ p} = .002$. The model explained 23.3 % (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in hallucinations and correctly classified 72.5% of cases. The Wald criterion demonstrated that Component 1 (p = .028, Exp(B) = 1.52

(95%CI: 1.05 - 2.20)), Component 2 (p=.012, Exp(B) = .644 (95%CI: 0.46 - 0.91)), Component 3 (p=.009, Exp(B) = 1.61 (95%CI: 1.13 – 2.29)), and Component 7 (p=.002, Exp(B)=.595 (95%CI: 0.43-0.83), made significant contributions to the presence of hallucinations. A follow-up logistic regression was conducted including only the variables that were identified as significant in the previous analysis. This included component scores for Components 1, 2, 3, 7. The overall model was significant $\chi^2(4) =$ 34.11, p < .001. The model explained 18.7% (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in hallucinations and correctly classified 72.1% of cases. The Wald criterion demonstrated that Component 1 (p = .003, Exp(B) = 1.59 (95%CI: 1.18 - 2.12)), Component 2 (p=.024, Exp(B) = .699 (95%CI: 0.51 - 0.96)), and Component 3 (p=.001, Exp(B) = 1.67 (95%CI: 1.23 - 2.25)), Component 7 (p=.003, Exp(B)=.622 (95%CI: 0.46-0.85), made significant contributions to the presence of hallucinations.

Post-hoc analysis of covariance with FDR correction (q < .010) compared the mean cortical thickness and subcortical volumes for ROIs loading most strongly to Components 1, 2, 3, 7 between the AD+H and AD-H groups, with sex, age, years of education, CDR global score, and MMSE total score as covariates. Trends of larger cortical thickness were found for AD+H compared to AD-H in the following regions: left superior parietal (F(1,224)=4.31, p = .039, q = 0.307), left post central (F(1,224)=5.03, p = .026, q = .307), left cuneus (F(1,224)=4.1, p = .044, q = .307), left entorhinal (F(1,224)=6.5, p = .011, q = .011.055), right entorhinal (F(1,224)=6.9, p = .009, q = .055), left amygdala (F(1,224)=4.10, p) = .044, q = .147). Trends for smaller cortical thickness for AD+H compared to AD-H were found in the following regions: left lateral orbitofrontal (F(1,224)=6.48, p = .012, q = .110), left medial orbitofrontal(F(1,224)=5.39 p=.021, q=.110), right medial orbitofrontal (F(1,224)=4.7, p = .031, q = .116), and the right frontal pole (F(1,224)=5.32, p = .022, q = .110). Regions that were found to have significantly smaller cortical thickness values in AD+H subjects when compared to AD-H subjects included the left rostral anterior cingulate (F(1,224)=5.12, p = .025, q = .033), left caudal anterior cingulate (F(1,224)=10.25, p = .002, q = .004), and the right caudal anterior cingulate (F(1,224)=10.81, p=.001, q=.004).

	Hallu (A N	cinations D+H) = 84	No Hallucinations (AD-H) N = 149				_
	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)	t	p-value	
Age	73.61	7.3	75.31	6.7	-1.8	0.07	
Years of Education	14.87	3.0	15.38	2.7	-1.3	0.19	
CDR Global Score	1.12	0.57	1.11	0.32	0.07	0.94	
MMSE Total Score	21.26	5.3	20.48	4.3	1.2	0.22	
	Males	Females	Males	Females	Fischer's Exac	ct Test (2-sided)	
Sex (%)	52.4	47.6	54.4	45.6	0.	786	
MRI Field Strength	1.5T	<i>3T</i>	1.5T	<i>3T</i>	Fischer's Exac	ct Test (2-sided)	
	50	34	104	45	0.	116	
	Halluc	cinations (A	AD+H)	No	Hallucination	s (AD-H)	
Number of ApoE4 alleles	0	1	2	0	1	2	Pearson Chi-Square
	22	45	17	47	69	33	.552

Table 14. Imaging only analysis: Hallucination cohort demographic and disease profile

Table 15. Hallucination Cohort: Rotated component matrix. Colours indicate ROIsloading most strongly to each component based on component scores. Loadings below0.3 have been suppressed. R = Right, L=Left

	Components											
FreeSurfer ROIs	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
R Superior Parietal	0.849											
L Superior Parietal	0.837											
R Precentral	0.825											
R Precuneus	0.824											
L Paracentral	0.818											
L Precentral	0.818											
R Paracentral	0.811											
L PostCentral	0.804											
R PostCentral	0.802											
L Precuneus	0.779			0.34								
R Caudal Middle Frontal	0.775	0.338										
L Caudal Middle Frontal	0.773	0.337		0.365								
R Inferior Parietal	0.772				0.405							
L Inferior Parietal	0.734			0.507								
R Supramarginal	0.728				0.43							
L Supramarginal	0.705	0.325		0.433								
L Superior Frontal	0.692	0.532										
R Superior Frontal	0.671	0.577										
R Cuneus	0.652					0.55						
R Lateral Occipital	0.642					0.433						
R Bank STS	0.607				0.529							
L Cuneus	0.598					0.513						
R Pars Opercularis	0.583	0.501										
L Lateral Occipital	0.563			0.375		0.498						
L Pericalcarine	0.557					0.516						
R Fusiform	0.502		0.417		0.387							
R Posterior Cingulate	0.495	0.321					0.46					
L Transverse Temporal	0.445	0.377										
R Isthmus Cingulate	0.388	0.382					0.333					
R Lateral Orbitofrontal		0.782										
L Pars Orbitalis		0.781										
L Lateral Orbitofrontal		0.745										
R Pars Orbitalis		0.688										

R Rostral Middle Frontal	0.499	0.687								
R Frontal Pole		0.687								
L Medial Orbitofrontal		0.686					0.315			
L Rostral Middle Frontal	0.523	0.664								
R Medial Orbitofrontal		0.653								
L Frontal Pole		0.64								
R Pars Triangularis	0.505	0.607								
L Pars Triangularis	0.468	0.599								
L Pars Opercularis	0.537	0.544		0.359						
R Rostral Anterior Cingulate		0.488					0.348			
R Transverse Temporal	0.414	0.419			0.362					
L Entorhinal			0.765							
R Entorhinal			0.756							
R Temporal Pole		0.377	0.7							
L Amygdala			0.698							
R Amygdala			0.678							
L Temporal Pole		0.387	0.611	0.31						
R Parahippocampal	0.332		0.499							
L Parahippocampal			0.492				0.36			
L Insula		0.415	0.422							
R Insula		0.409	0.471		0.472		0.309			
L Inferior Temporal				0.721						
L Middle Temporal	0.432	0.305		0.706						
L Fusiform	0.404		0.331	0.579						
L Bank STS	0.548			0.566						
L Superior Temporal	0.407	0.34	0.33	0.542						
L Isthmus Cingulate	0.378	0.308		0.495						
R Superior Temporal	0.492		0.375		0.582					
R Middle Temporal	0.515		0.329		0.577					
R Inferior Temporal	0.389	0.325	0.381		0.542					
L Lingual	0.455			0.341		0.636				
R Pericalcarine	0.53					0.591				
R Lingual	0.524					0.571				
L Rostral Anterior Cingulate		0.365					0.713			
L Caudal Anterior Cingulate							0.699			
R Caudal Anterior Cingulate							0.522			
L Posterior Cingulate	0.48			0.316			0.489			
R Pallidum								0.763		
L Pallidum								0.76		

R Putamen		0.608	0.451			
L Putamen		0.554	0.45			0.302
L Caudate			0.881			
R Caudate			0.871			
L Cerebellum Cortex				0.891		
R Cerebellum Cortex				0.888		
R Thalamus					0.854	
L Thalamus					0.853	
L Accumbens Area						0.712
R Accumbens Area	0.325					0.644

Chapter 4

4 Discussion

4.1 Discussion Overview

The biological mechanisms underlying psychotic symptoms in AD are poorly understood. Some patients with AD develop psychotic symptoms early in their disease course while others remain asymptomatic throughout. The discrepancy between participants that present with psychotic symptoms and those that do not provides an opportunity to investigate differences between these two groups of AD patients. In particular, it allows us to compare differences in neuroanatomical structures and genetic variants that could potentially mediate the presence of these symptoms in AD. As such, in our study we sought to investigate if the interactions between regional brain changes and genetic polymorphisms in neurotransmitter systems may be associated with the presence of delusions and hallucinations in AD.

Using PLS-CA we simultaneously assessed the interaction between 82 subcortical and cortical regions of interest and 15 SNPs in neurotransmitter systems to determine whether unique patterns of interactions may separate those with delusions, those with hallucinations, and those with both symptoms. Follow-up binary logistic regression analyses from a larger available sample were used to identify specific brain regions associated with the presence or absence of psychotic symptoms. For the delusion cohorts, results of the PLS-CA suggest that there are no significant interactions between neuroanatomical and genetic factors that distinguish those with delusions when compared to those without. In contrast, for the logistic regression analysis, although not significant we did identify a trend towards significance which suggests that cortical atrophy to orbitofrontal and middle frontal regions, coupled with relative preservation of temporal lobe structures may be associated with symptoms of delusions. The results for the PLS-CA for the hallucination cohort, suggest that individuals with AD and hallucinations may have a unique pattern of interactions in cortical regions and SNPs within the glutamatergic system when compared to those without hallucinations. Moreover, those with AD and symptoms of both delusions and hallucinations may have a distinct profile from those with just hallucinations even when matched for disease severity. Collectively, our findings suggest that delusions and hallucinations in AD may be associated with unique underlying neuroanatomic and genetic correlates and further highlight the

importance of investigating these as distinct symptoms of AD. These initial findings may also have implications for more specific and targeted treatment options for different psychotic symptoms in AD.

4.2 Delusions in Alzheimer's Disease

To investigate differences between AD patients that presented with symptoms of delusions, we conducted two main analyses - PLS-CA and a binary logistic regression analysis. Participants with available neuroimaging and GWAS data who presented with symptoms of delusions and a control group of AD patients that did not, were included in the PLS-CA. The binary logistic regression analysis included a significantly larger cohort of participants that had structural imaging data, and unlike the PLS-CA was not limited by GWAS availability. An important limitation to note for the PLS-CA, was that most, if not all participants only completed the NPI-Q. The abbreviated questionnaire does not distinguish between specific subtypes of delusions in AD. This is particularly relevant because the two main subgroups – paranoid and misidentification delusions, may have unique underlying correlates ¹⁵⁴. Moreover, delusions of theft, which are the most common subtype of delusions may be associated with memory impairments that arise as a result of AD. The lack of information with regards to specific subtypes of delusions that participants presented with may be a potential reason why we did not observe the hypothesized effects with regards to interactions between neuroanatomical and genetic factors.

In contrast, the binary logistic regression analysis identified a trend towards significance for Components 2 and 3. Component 2 included frontal lobe structures such as bilateral middle and lateral orbitofrontal, pars orbitalis, and frontal poles. Component 3 consisted predominantly of temporal lobe structures including bilateral entorhinal cortex, amygdala, parahippocampal, temporal poles, and the right insula. In particular, lower component scores for Component 2 and higher component scores for Component 3 were associated with an increased risk for delusions. These findings suggest that cortical atrophy of frontal lobe structures and relative preservation of temporal lobe regions may be necessary to generate symptoms of delusions in AD. This finding is consistent with the hypofrontality model of delusions which postulates that impaired frontal lobe function,
either arising from atrophy or hypometabolism, may be associated with the presence of delusions in AD 57,155,156. In support of this model, a SPECT study of patients with AD and psychotic symptoms found that patients with delusions had hypoperfusion of the right frontal lobe when compared to those without delusions ⁶⁶. While another, through the use of voxel-based morphometry, found that patients with AD and delusions when compared to those without delusions had smaller grey matter volumes in bilateral parahippocampal gyrus, right posterior cingulate, right orbitofrontal cortex, bilateral inferior frontal cortex, right anterior cingulate, and left insula ¹⁵⁷. Although in our study we did not identify hemispheric lateralization with respect to delusional symptoms, the localization of these symptoms to the frontal lobe are consistent with prior studies. Furthermore, studies that directly assessed frontal lobe function through the use of cognitive rating scales found that psychotic symptoms in AD were associated with impaired working memory as measured by the digit span (forward and backward) task ¹⁵⁸. One other study looking specifically at frontal lobe function in patients with AD and delusions also found that patients with AD and delusional thoughts had lower overall scores on the Frontal Assessment Battery when compared to those without symptoms of delusions ¹⁵⁹. Based on the observed results, the authors hypothesized that impairments in executive functioning and not just episodic memory deficits may be associated with delusional thoughts. While the results of the binary logistic regression analysis showed a trend towards significance in frontal lobe regions, it may also be important to consider how other comorbid neuropsychiatric symptoms (i.e. depression, agitation, or apathy) may influence the presence of misidentification and paranoid delusions either through modulating attentional capacity or increasing susceptibility to paranoia.

4.3 Hallucinations in Alzheimer's Disease

Results of the PLS-CA identified a trend towards significance for Component 1. In particular, the interaction between smaller cortical thickness values in a number of frontal, temporal, and parietal regions and SNPs in the glutamatergic system distinguished those with hallucinations from those without. The glutamatergic system has previously been implicated in the NMDA receptor hypofunctioning hypothesis of schizophrenia which postulates that downregulation of glutamate signaling in prefrontal regions which project to subcortical structural such as the amygdala, nucleus accumbens, and brainstem structures may lead to the development of positive symptoms ^{160–162}. More specifically, dysfunction in the cortical-brainstem circuitry arising from reduced glutamate signaling can lead to excessive dopamine release in the mesolimbic pathway, which can in turn result in hallucinations and delusions $^{163-165}$. A previous study has similarly implicated a role of the GRIN2A receptor, in particular identifying an association between the homozygous recessive genotype of rs9922678 in the GRIN2A receptor and a bilateral reduction in hippocampal volume in patients with schizophrenia ¹⁶⁶. This finding is in line with the results of the PLS-CA which suggest that the homozygous recessive genotype of res9922678 may be associated with reduced cortical thickness in temporal lobe structures. This finding further supports our rationale that regional brain atrophy arising from AD may unmask the effects of SNPs in neurotransmitters systems. This is particularly relevant to approved medications that are used to treat neuropsychiatric symptoms in AD, given that antagonism of the NMDA receptor may actually contribute to the development of hallucinations in patients with AD. For instance, Memantine is a non-competitive NMDA antagonist that is often administered to patients with AD. This drug was designed to treat glutamate neurotoxicity which arises as a result of excessive activation of glutamate receptors, which in turn can lead to neuronal death. Although Memantine has been shown to have some benefits on cognition and overall function, one of the most frequent documented side-effects of this drug includes hallucinations in patients with AD ^{167–169}. Given, the risk of hallucinations that are associated with Memantine, not only is it important to address whether these symptoms in AD are a result of the drug, but also the effect of this drug on patients with existing genetic variants in NMDA receptors. Namely, whether the frequency and severity of hallucinations may be exacerbated in patients with genetic variants in NMDA receptors.

When considering the imaging data alone in the larger cohort, the logistic regression results were slightly different than the PLS-CA. In particular, the PLS-CA identified only regions that were smaller in those with hallucinations, while the binary logistic regression analyses identified regions with cortical thickness values that were larger and smaller in those with hallucinations when compared to those without. The main conflicting results between the PLS-CA and binary logistic regression involved regions of the parietal lobe and the entorhinal cortex. Based on the PLS-CA these two regions were smaller in those with hallucinations when compared to controls, while in the binary logistic regression were larger in those with hallucinations, when compared to controls. The results of the binary logistic regression analysis suggest that larger cortical thickness in parietal, postcentral, amygdala, cuneus, and entorhinal cortex regions and smaller cortical thickness in the anterior cingulate may be associated with symptoms of hallucinations. One possibility as to why these differences may exist may be consistent with our initial prediction. We posited that atrophy is necessary for unmasking the effects of SNPs, which may explain why the PLS-CA only identified ROIs that were atrophied in those with hallucinations when compared to those without. In contrast, the binary logistic regression analysis, which only looked at imaging variables in a larger sample, likely provides more information with regards to regions that are relatively preserved in those with hallucinations when compared to those without.

The findings from the logistic regression are in line with some previous studies in patients with AD which suggest that relative preservation of parietal, temporal, and occipital regions are necessary for the generation of hallucinations ⁸⁷. This particular pattern of frontal atrophy and preservation of temporal and posterior regions is also consistent with the case reports of Schneider and colleagues (1961), who noted that following localized lesions to the frontal lobe, patients who had suffered from previous falls or seizures developed hallucinations in the temporal and occipital lobes. The authors postulated that in this case abnormal activity was propagated along the uncinate fasiculus which connects frontal regions like the orbitofrontal cortex to temporal lobe and limbic structures ¹⁷⁰. More specifically, it is thought that lesions in frontal regions which through the uncinate fasiculus are connected to temporal lobe structures important for visual recall may lead to abnormal firing from the frontal lobe to these temporal lobe structures to generate symptoms of visual hallucinations. In future studies of psychosis in AD it would be of interest to evaluate if those with a frontal-variant of AD would be more susceptible to hallucinations, and to assess white matter connectivity, particularly tracts connecting the frontal lobes to the parietal and temporal regions.

The anterior cingulate itself also plays a key role in self-referential processing and discriminating between self-generated and external information and has been implicated in the generation of hallucinations in schizophrenia ^{171,172}. A SPECT study of psychotic symptoms in AD, also found that those with psychosis had lower regional perfusion in frontal regions such as the dorsolateral frontal, anterior cingulate, as well as other parietal and subcortical structures ¹⁷³. Given the role of the anterior cingulate, we suggest that atrophy of the anterior cingulate, which we identified in our study, may result in misattribution of external stimuli to internal states thereby resulting in symptoms of hallucinations. Importantly, the anterior cingulate also has extensive connections to limbic structures, including the amygdala and the insula, and has also been shown to be associated with the processing of negative emotions such as fear ^{174,175}. When tying this back to hallucination in AD, abnormal perceptions generated from inaccurate internal representation of stimuli may lead to an increased fear response, and distress in those experiencing hallucinations. This is particularly important given that this may be a contributing factor to the increased rates of institutionalization of patients with AD and hallucinations^{82,83}.

4.4 The Co-occurrence of Delusions and Hallucinations in Alzheimer's Disease

To investigate differences in patients with only delusions, only hallucinations, both hallucinations and delusions, and patients with neither symptom, we conducted a PLS-CA. The objective of this analysis was to try and identify differences that may exist on a neuroanatomical and genetic level, between individuals who present with particular or multiple symptoms of psychosis. Results of the PLS-CA identified a trend towards significance for Component 1. Namely, the latent factor plot and bootstrap confidence intervals suggest that those with hallucinations only (AD+H) and those with both delusions and hallucinations (AD+DH) may have a unique pattern of interactions between SNPs and ROIs. Although it is difficult to draw definitive conclusions given the small cohort sizes, multiple comorbid psychotic symptoms may be associated with more advanced cortical atrophy or simply a different pattern of cortical reorganization in response to the cognitive deficits that arise from AD. Given the results of our study which

suggest that patients with AD+DH have cortical thickness values below the grand mean in the large majority of ROIs when compared to those with just hallucinations, we speculate that disease severity may be driving the observed differences between the two groups. One study that looked into the frequency of neuropsychiatric symptoms and AD found an association between increasing frequency of delusions, hallucinations and aberrant motor activity with increased disease severity ¹⁷⁶. Although in our study the two groups did not differ in disease severity, it could be that those with AD+DH, while having more severe cortical atrophy, either have a different pattern of cortical reorganization or are able to use alternative compensatory cognitive strategies which may mask the degree of cognitive decline on clinical observation. Many studies that have described hallucinations in AD have tended to group together hallucinations and delusions into one overarching category of psychotic symptoms, which makes it difficult to parse underlying differences that may exist between the two. The findings of our study highlight the importance of investigating these symptoms as distinct phenomenon given the differences that we identified in the AD+H and AD+DH cohorts.

4.5 Limitations and Future Directions

This study was limited by the small sample size of participants endorsing symptoms of hallucinations and delusions. A replication cohort, potentially using individuals from the ADNI-2 database, may allow us to draw more definitive conclusions about the different interactions between brain regions and SNPs that may be associated with delusions and hallucinations. Furthermore, because many of the SNPs that we investigated were localized on the same chromosome, a haplotype analysis to detect SNPs that are in high linkage disequilibrium (more likely to be inherited together), may allow us to reduce the number of SNPs in our model and thereby increase the power of our study to detect associations between brain regions and genetic factors. In future studies, where we are powered to investigate more SNPs, it may be interesting to consider the interaction of neuroanatomical factors and SNPs in the serotonergic system. A previous study investigating the neuropathological and neurochemical correlates of psychosis in patients with AD, found that on post-mortem analysis, patients with psychotic symptoms had significantly reduced levels of serotonin in the prosubiculum and trends towards

reduction of serotonin in middle frontal, temporal, entorhinal cortex, and hippocampal regions ⁷³. Additional information with regards to SNPs in the serotonergic system that may be interacting with different brain regions may be of particular interest when considering the effects of newer antipsychotic treatments in patients with AD. For example, a newer drug by the name of Pimavanserin, a 5-HT2A inverse agonist, has been approved in the United States for the treatment of hallucinations in patients with Parkinson's disease. This drug is now also being tested for efficacy in patients with psychotic symptoms in AD. Early animal studies of this drug on psychotic symptoms in rodent models of AD, found that administration of Pimavanserin reduced psychosisassociated behaviours such as head twitches, excessive locomotor activity, and also normalized pre-pulse inhibition ¹⁷⁷. More recent human studies, including a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled study investigating the efficacy of Pimavanserin in AD patients with hallucinations and/or delusions found that patients on the drug demonstrated significant improvements in psychotic symptoms when compared to those on placebo and did not experiences negative cognitive effects ¹⁷⁸. Given these findings, looking specifically at SNPs in the 5HT2A receptor and their interaction with SNPs in other neurotransmitter systems and brain regions, could provide us with more information on the specific mechanism by which hallucinations and delusions arise in patients with AD.

Furthermore, this study was limited because we were unable to dissociate between the specific subtypes of hallucinations and delusions within our cohorts. In future studies, where we are able to distinguish between the subgroups, it may provide us with more valuable information with regards to what particular subtypes of delusions or hallucinations may be driving the results that we obtained in our analysis. Given our findings of frontal lobe atrophy in patients with AD as well as frontal involvement in patients with hallucinations, in future studies it may be important to more specifically examine regions of hyper- and hypometabolism using fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET). This is because MRI data is limited in detecting only structural changes arising from regional cortical atrophy, which itself may not be easily identified in earlier stages of AD. FDG-PET may be a more powerful tool in detecting brain regions or networks that are abnormally hyper or hypo-active in response to disrupted cortical signaling. This in turn, may allow us to better understand the cortical

networks implicated in aberrant local and network-wide signaling which may give rise to symptoms of hallucinations and delusions in AD. Identifying networks of brain regions may then further guide diffusion tensor imaging studies to map white matter tracts that may be implicated in the pathology of psychotic symptoms in AD. This will allow us to better understand whether localized lesions to specific brain regions and/or connections between brain regions may be associated with AD+P.

5 Conclusions

In summary, the results of our study provide preliminary evidence of a unique signature of neuroimaging and genetic interactions which may be associated with the presence of hallucinations in AD. Specifically, these results suggest that genetic variants in the glutamatergic system, along with regional brain changes, may uniquely identify those with hallucinations. Although the results of the PLS-CA did not identify any significant differences in interactions between SNPs and ROIs, we did identify a trend towards significance in the logistic regression analysis which suggests that atrophy to the frontal lobe coupled with preservation of temporal lobe structures may be associated with symptoms of delusions in patients with AD. These findings further suggest that there may be distinct patterns of interactions that separate those with specific psychotic symptoms in AD from those without. Overall, knowledge of the interactions between SNPs in neurotransmitter systems and particular brain regions, may be an important starting point for earlier detection of those who may be susceptible to these symptoms in AD, and may allow for the development of more specific and targeted treatment options.

Appendix

List of 82 Regions of Interest	
ST110TA Right Precentral	ST130TA Right Insula
ST51TA Left Precentral	ST111TA Right Precuneus
ST74TA Right Caudal Middle Frontal	ST52TA Left Precuneus
ST15TA Left Caudal Middle Frontal	ST104TA Right Pars Opercularis
ST115TA Right Superior Frontal	ST62TA Left Transverse Temporal
ST56TA Left Superior Frontal	ST121TA Right Transverse Temporal
ST84TA Right Frontal Pole	ST72TA Right Bank Superior Temporal Sulcus
ST98TA Right Medial Orbitofrontal	ST36TA Left Lateral Orbitofrontal
ST114TA Right Rostral Middle Frontal	ST95TA Right Lateral Orbitofrontal
ST55TA Left Rostral Middle Frontal	ST46TA Left Pars Orbitalis
ST25TA Left Frontal Pole	ST105TA Right Pars Orbitalis
ST39TA Left Medial Orbitofrontal	ST106TA Right Pars Triangularis
ST116TA Right Superior Parietal	ST47TA Left Pars Triangularis
ST108TA Right Post Central	ST45TA Left Pars Opercularis
ST102TA Right Paracentral	ST13TA Left Bank Superior Temporal Sulcus
ST57TA Left Superior Parietal	ST34TA Left Isthmus Cingulate
ST49TA Left Post Central	ST24TA Left Entorhinal
ST43TA Left Paracentral	ST83TA Right Entorhinal
ST118TA Right Supramarginal	ST103TA Right Parahippocampal
ST90TA Right Inferior Parietal	ST44TA Left Parahippocampal
ST59TA Left Supramarginal	ST14TA Left Caudal Anterior Cingulate
ST31TA Left Inferior Parietal	ST73TA Right Caudal Anterior Cingulate
ST32TA Left Inferior Temporal	ST54TA Left Rostral Anterior Cingulate
ST40TA Left Middle Temporal	ST113TA Right Rostral Anterior Cingulate
ST26TA Left Fusiform	ST50TA Left Posterior Cingulate
ST58TA Left Superior Temporal	ST109TA Right Posterior Cingulate
ST119TA Right Temporal Pole	ST93TA Right Isthmus Cingulate
ST60TA Left Temporal Pole	ST53SV Left Putamen
ST117TA Right Superior Temporal	ST112SV Right Putamen
ST91TA Right Inferior Temporal	ST16SV Left Caudate
ST99TA Right Middle Temporal	ST75SV Right Caudate
ST85TA Right Fusiform	ST42SV Left Pallidum
ST82TA Right Cuneus	ST101SV Right Pallidum
ST23TA Left Cuneus	ST11SV Left Accumbens Area

Appendix A. Complete list of regions of interest included in analyses

ST107TA Right Pericalcarine	ST70SV Right Accumbens Area
ST48TA Left Pericalcarine	ST12SV Left Amygdala
ST97TA Right Lingual	ST71SV Right Amygdala
ST38TA Left Lingual	ST61SV Left Thalamus
ST35TA Left Lateral Occipital	ST120SV Right Thalamus
ST94TA Right Lateral Occipital	ST17SV Left Cerebellum Cortex
ST129TA Left Insula	ST76SV Right Cerebellum Cortex

References

- Nichols E, Szoeke CEI, Vollset SE, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol*. 2018;18(January). doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30403-4.
- Latest information and statistics | Alzheimer Society of Canada. 2016. https://alzheimer.ca/en/Home/Get-involved/Advocacy/Latest-info-stats.
- Jacobs DM, Sano M, Dooneief G, Marder K, Bell KL, Stern Y. Neuropsychological detection and characterization of preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 1995;45(5):957-962.
- Jessen F, Amariglio RE, Van Boxtel M, et al. A conceptual framework for research on subjective cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Dement*. 2014;10(6):844-852. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2014.01.001.
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE MP. Mini-mental state. A grading the cognitive state of patiens for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res.* 1975;12:189-198. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6.
- Morris JC, Cummings J. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) represents early-stage Alzheimer's disease. 2005;7:235-239.
- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bedirian V, et al. The Montreal cognitive assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2005;53(4):695-699.
- Grundman M, Petersen RC, Ferris SH, et al. Mild Cognitive Impairment Can Be Distinguished from Alzheimer Disease and Normal Aging for Clinical Trials. *Arch Neurol.* 2004;61(1):59-66. doi:10.1001/archneur.61.1.59.
- 9. Espinosa A, Alegret M, Valero S, et al. A longitudinal follow-up of 550 mild cognitive impairment patients: Evidence for large conversion to dementia rates and

detection of major risk factors involved. *J Alzheimer's Dis*. 2013. doi:10.3233/JAD-122002.

- Csukly G, Sirály E, Fodor Z, et al. The differentiation of amnestic type MCI from the non-amnestic types by structural MRI. *Front Aging Neurosci*. 2016;8(MAR):1-10. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2016.00052.
- Zhu X, Tan L, Wang H, et al. Rate of early onset Alzheimer 's disease : a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Transl Med.* 2015;3(3). doi:10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.01.19.
- Goate A, Chartier-Harlin M-C, Mullan M, et al. Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid β-protein precursor gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*. 1991;349(s3):341-347. doi:10.3233/jad-2006-9s338.
- Sherrington R, Rogaeva EA, Liang Y, et al. Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*. 1995;375(6534):754-760. doi:10.1038/375754a0.
- Levy-Lahad E, Wasco W, Poorkaj P, et al. Candidate Gene for the Chromosome 1 Familial Alzheimer 's Disease Locus. *Science (80-)*. 1995;269(973-976):11-16.
- Brookmeyer R, Gray S, Kawas C. Projections of Alzheimer's disease in the United States and the public health impact of delaying disease onset. *Am J Public Health*. 1998;88(9):1337-1342. doi:10.2105/AJPH.88.9.1337.
- Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel D, et al. Association of apolipoprotein E allele 4 with late-onset familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 1993;43(8):1467-1467. doi:10.1212/wnl.43.8.1467.
- Roses AD. Apolipoprotein E Alleles As Risk Factors in Alzheimer'S Disease. Annu Rev Med. 1996;47(1):387-400. doi:10.1146/annurev.med.47.1.387.
- Liu C-C, Kanekiyo T, Xu H, Bu G. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: risk, mechanisms and therapy. *Nat Rev Neurol*. 2013;9(2):106-118.

doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2012.211-c1.

- Corder E, Saunders A, Strittmatter W, et al. Gene Dose of Apolipoprotein E Type
 4 Allele and the Risk of Alzheimer 's Disease in Late Onset Families Published
 by : American Association for the Advancement of Science Stable URL : http://www.jstor.org/stable/2882127. Adv Sci. 1993;261(5123):921-923.
- Huang Y, Mahley RW. Apolipoprotein E: Structure and function in lipid metabolism, neurobiology, and Alzheimer's diseases. *Neurobiol Dis*. 2014;72(Part A):3-12. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.08.025.
- 21. Namba Y, Tomonaga M, Kawasaki H, Otomo E, Ikeda K. [Apolipoprotein B immunoreactivity in cerebral amyloid deposits and neurofibrillary tangles in senile dementia of Alzheimer type]. *Brain Res.* 1991;541(1):826-830. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1764857.
- Corder EH, Saunders AM, Risch NJ, et al. Protective effect of apolipoprotein E type 2 allele for late onset Alzheimer disease. *Nat Genet*. 1994;7(2):180-184. doi:10.1038/ng0694-180.
- Lindsay J, Laurin D, Verreault R, et al. Risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: A prospective analysis from the Canadian Study of Health and Aging. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2002;156(5):445-453. doi:10.1093/aje/kwf074.
- Sattler C, Toro P, Schönknecht P, Schröder J. Cognitive activity, education and socioeconomic status as preventive factors for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Psychiatry Res.* 2012;196(1):90-95. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.11.012.
- Fratiglioni L, Paillard-Borg S, Winblad B. An active and socially integrated lifestyle in late life might protect against dementia. *Lancet*. 2004;3:343-353. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00767-7.
- Scarmeas N, Levy G, Tang MX, Manly J, Stern Y. Influence of leisure activity on the incidence of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 2001;57(12):2236-2242.

- Stern Y. Cognitive reserve and Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer's Disease and Associated Disorders, 20, 112-117. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. 2006;20(September):69-74.
- Stern Y. Cognitive reserve in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol*. 2012;11(11):1006-1012. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70191-6.
- 29. Alzheimer A. Über eine eigenartige Erkrankung der Hirnrinde. *Allg Zeitschrift für Psychiatr und Psych Medizin*. 1907. doi:10.1002/ca.980080612.
- Alzheimer A, Jahre I. Über eigenartige Krankheitsfiille des spateren Alters.
 Zeitschrift fuer die gesamte Neurol und Psychiatr. 1911. doi:10.1007/BF02866241.
- Jarrett JT, Berger EP, Lansbury PT. The Carboxy Terminus of the β Amyloid Protein Is Critical for the Seeding of Amyloid Formation: Implications for the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease. *Biochemistry*. 1993;32(18):4693-4697. doi:10.1021/bi00069a001.
- 32. Braak H, Braak E. Evolution of the neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand.* 1996;94(S165):3-12. doi:doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.1996.tb05866.x.
- Hardy J, Higgins G. Alzheimer 's Disease : The Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis
 Published by : American Association for the Advancement of Science Alzheimer's
 Disease : The Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis. *Science*. 1992;256(5054):184-185.
- Bancher C, Brunner C, Lassmann H, et al. Accumulation of abnormally phosphorylated τ precedes the formation of neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 1989;477(1-2):90-99. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(89)91396-6.
- Vickers JC, Delacourte A, Morrison JH. Progressive transformation of the cytoskeleton associated with normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res*. 1992;594(2):273-278. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(92)91134-Z.
- Goedert M. Tau protein and the neurofibrillary pathology of Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Neurosci.* 1993;16(11):460-465. doi:10.1016/0166-2236(93)90078-Z.

- 37. Arnold SE, Hyman BT, Flory J, Damasio AR, Van Hoesen GW. The Topographical and Neuroanatomical Distribution of Neurofibrillary Tangles and Neuritic Plaques in the Cerebral Cortex of Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. *Cereb Cortex*. 1991;1(1):103-116. doi:10.1093/cercor/1.1.103.
- Braak H, Braak E. Staging of alzheimer's disease-related neurofibrillary changes. *Neurobiol Aging*. 1995;16(3):271-284. doi:10.1016/0197-4580(95)00021-6.
- Steinberg M, Shao H, Zandi P, et al. Patients with Lewy body dementia use more resources than those with Alzheimer's disease ". *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2007;(December 2006):713-719. doi:10.1002/gps.
- Allegri RF, Sarasola D, Serrano CM, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms as a predictor of caregiver burden in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 2006;2(1):105-110.
- Ropacki SA, Jeste D V. Epidemiology of and risk factors for psychosis of Alzheimer's disease: A review of 55 studies published from 1990 to 2003. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2005;162(11):2022-2030. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.11.2022.
- Scarmeas N, Brandt J, Albert M, et al. Delusions and Hallucinations Are Associated With Worse Outcome in Alzheimer Disease. *Arch Neurol.* 2005;62(10). doi:10.1001/archneur.62.10.1601.
- Cummings JL, Mega MS, Gray K, Rosenberg-Thompson S, Carusi DA, Gornbein J. The Neuropsychiatric Inventory: comprehensive assessment of psychopathology in dementia. *Neurology*. 1994.
- Kaufer DI, Cummings JL, Ketchel P, et al. Validation of the NPI-Q, a Brief
 Clinical Form of the Neuropsychiatric Inventory. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*.
 2000;12(2):233-239. doi:10.1176/jnp.12.2.233.
- 45. Aalten P, Verhey FRJ, Boziki M, et al. Neuropsychiatric Syndromes in Dementia. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2007;24(6):457-463. doi:10.1159/000110738.

- Reinhardt MM, Cohen CI. Late-Life Psychosis: Diagnosis and Treatment. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* 2015;17(2). doi:10.1007/s11920-014-0542-0.
- Webster R, Holroyd S. Prevalence of Psychotic Symptoms in Delirium. *Psychosomatics*. 2000;41(6):519-522. doi:10.1176/appi.psy.41.6.519.
- Schrimpf BLA, Aggarwal A, Lauriello J. Psychosis. *Contin Lifelong Learn Neurol*. 2018:845-860.
- White KE, Cummings JL. Schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease: Clinical and pathophysiologic analogies. *Compr Psychiatry*. 1996;37(3):188-195. doi:10.1016/S0010-440X(96)90035-8.
- Burns A, Jacoby R, Levy R. Psychiatric phenomena in Alzheimer's disease. I: Disorders of Thought Content. *Br J Psychiatry*. 1990;157:72-76. doi:10.1192/bjp.157.1.86.
- Sultzer DL, Leskin LP, Melrose RJ, et al. Neurobiology of delusions, memory, and insight in alzheimer disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2014;22(11):1346-1355. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2013.06.005.
- 52. Harwood DG, Barker WW, Ownby RL, Duara R. Relationship of behavioral and psychological symptoms to cognitive impairment and functional status in Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2000;15(5):393-400. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-1166(200005)15:5<393::AID-GPS120>3.0.CO;2-O.
- Cohen-Mansfield J, Golander H, Cohen R. Rethinking Psychosis in Dementia: An Analysis of Antecedents and Explanations. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen*. 2017;32(5):265-271. doi:10.1177/1533317517703478.
- Schneider K. Clinical Psychopathology. (Trans. by M. W. Hamilton), 5th Ed. Oxford, England: Grune & Stratton; 1959.
- 55. Rubin EH, Drevets WC, Burke WJ. The Nature of Psychotic Symptoms in Senile Dementia of the Alzheimer Type. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol*. 1988;1(1):16-20.

doi:10.1177/089198878800100104.

- Murray PS, Kumar S, Demichele-Sweet MAA, Sweet RA. Psychosis in Alzheimer's disease. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2014;75(7):542-552. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.08.020.
- Paulsen JS, Salmon DP, Thal LJ, et al. Incidence of and risk factors for hallucinations and delusions in patients with probable AD. *Neurology*. 2000;54(10):1965-1971. doi:10.1212/WNL.54.10.1965.
- Lyketsos CG, Sheppard J-ME, Steinberg M, et al. Neuropsychiatric disturbance in Alzheimer's disease clusters into three groups: the Cache County study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2001;16(11):1043-1053. doi:10.1002/gps.448.
- Frisoni GB, Rozzini L, Gozzetti A, et al. Behavioral syndromes in Alzheimer's disease: Description and correlates. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 1999;10(2):130-138. doi:10.1159/000017113.
- Sweet R, Nimgaonkar VL, Devlin B, Jeste D V. Psychotic symptoms in Alzheimer disease: Evidence for a distinct phenotype. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2003;8(4):383-392. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001262.
- Ballard C, Bannister C, Graham C, Oyebode F, Wilcock G. Associations of Psychotic Symptoms in Dementia Sufferers. *Br J Psychiatry*. 1995;167(04):537-540. doi:10.1192/bjp.167.4.537.
- Bassiony M, Steinberg M, Warren A, Rosenblatt A, Baker A, Lyketos C. Delusions and hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease: Prevalence and clinical correlates. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2000;15:99-107.
- 63. Gormley N, Rizwan M. Prevalence and Clinical Correlates of Psychotic Symptoms in Alzheimer's Disease. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 1998;13:410-414.
- 64. Zhao Q-F, Tan L, Wang H-F, et al. The prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord*.

2016;190:264-271. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.069.

- 65. Fischer CE. Delusions in Alzheimer 's Disease: A Literature Review. *Can Alzheimer Dis Rev.* 2004;(April):11-15.
- Kotrla KJ, Chacko RC, Harper RG, Jhingran S, Doody R. SPECT findings on psychosis in Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1995. doi:10.1176/ajp.152.10.1470.
- Staff RT, Shanks MF, Macintosh L, Pestell SJ, Gemmell HG, Venneri A. Delusions in Alzheimer's disease: SPET evidence of right hemispheric dysfunction. *Cortex*. 1999;35(4):549-560. doi:10.1016/S0010-9452(08)70818-9.
- Sultzer DL, Brown C V., Mandelkern MA, et al. Delusional thoughts and regional frontal/temporal cortex metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2003;160(2):341-349. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.160.2.341.
- Mentis MJ, Weinstein EA, Horwitz B, et al. Abnormal brain glucose metabolism in the delusional misidentification syndromes: A positron emission tomography study in Alzheimer disease. *Biol Psychiatry*. 1995;38(7). doi:10.1016/0006-3223(94)00326-X.
- Flynn F, Cummings JL, Gornbein J. Delusions in dementia syndromes: investigation of behavioral and neuropsychological correlates. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.* 1991;3:364-370. doi:10.1176/jnp.3.4.364.
- Sweet R, Hamilton RL, Lopez OL, et al. Psychotic Symptoms in Alzheimers Disease Are Not Associated With More Severe Neuropathologic Features. *Int Psychogeriatrics*. 2000;12(4):547-558. doi:10.1017/s1041610200006657.
- 72. Farber NB, Rubin EH, Newcomer JW, et al. Increased Neocortical Neurofibrillary Tangle Density in Subjects With Alzheimer Disease and Psychosis. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2000;57(12):1165. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.57.12.1165.
- 73. Zubenko GS, Moossy J, Martinez AJ, et al. Neuropathologic and Neurochemical

Correlates of Psychosis in Primary Dementia. *Arch Neurol.* 1991;48(6):619-624. doi:10.1001/archneur.1991.00530180075020.

- Cook SE, Miyahara S, Bacanu S-A, et al. Psychotic Symptoms in Alzheimer Disease: Evidence for Subtypes. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2009;11(4):406-413. doi:10.1097/00019442-200307000-00003.
- Ismail Z, Nguyen MQ, Fischer CE, Schweizer TA, Mulsant BH. Neuroimaging of delusions in Alzheimer's disease. *Psychiatry Res - Neuroimaging*. 2012;202(2):89-95. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.01.008.
- Ponton MO, Darcourt J, Miller BL, Cummings JL, Schumann SW, Maen I.
 Psychometric and spect studies in alzheimer's disease with and without delusions. Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol. 1995;8:264-270.
- Levine DN, Grek A. The anatomic basis of delusions after right cerebral infarction. *Neurology*. 1984;34(5):577-582. doi:10.1212/wnl.34.5.577.
- Venneri A, Shanks MF, Staff RT, Sala S Della. Nurturing syndrome: A form of pathological bereavement with delusions in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychologia*. 2000;38(2):213-224. doi:10.1016/S0028-3932(99)00061-5.
- Drevets WC, Rubin EH. Psychotic symptoms and the longitudinal course of senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Biol Psychiatry*. 1989;25(1):39-48. doi:10.1016/0006-3223(89)90145-5.
- Jeste D V., Finkel SI. Psychosis of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Diagnostic criteria for a distinct syndrome. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2000;8(1):29-34. doi:10.1097/00019442-200002000-00004.
- Burns A, Jacoby R, Levy R. Psychiatric Phenomena in Alzheimer's Disease. II: Disorders of Perception. *Br J Psychiatry*. 1990;157:76-81.
- 82. El Haj M, Roche J, Jardri R, Kapogiannis D, Gallouj K, Antoine P. Clinical and neurocognitive aspects of hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci*

Biobehav Rev. 2017;83:713-720. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.02.021.

- Scarmeas N, Brandt J, Albert M, et al. Delusions and hallucinations are associated with worse outcome in Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol*. 2005;62(10):1601-1608. doi:10.1001/archneur.62.10.1601.
- Wilson RS, Gilley DW, Bennett DA, Beckett LA, Evans DA. Hallucinations, delusions, and cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Nerosurg Psychiatry*. 2000;69:172-177.
- Ffytche DH. The hodology of hallucinations. *Cortex*. 2008;44(8):1067-1083. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2008.04.005.
- Holroyd S, Shepherd ML, Downs JH. Associated With Visual Hallucinations in Alzheimer 's Disease. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2000;12:25-28.
- Forstl H, Besthorn C, Burns A, Geiger-Kabisch C, Levy R, Sattel A. Delusional misidentification in Alzheimer's disease: a summary of clinical and biological aspects. *Psychopathology*. 1994;27(3-5):194-199.
- Lin SH, Yu CY, Pai MC. The occipital white matter lesions in Alzheimer's disease patients with visual hallucinations. *Clin Imaging*. 2006;30(6):388-393. doi:10.1016/j.clinimag.2006.09.025.
- Chapman F, Dickinson J, McKeith I, Ballard C. Association Among Visual Hallucinations, Visual Acuity, and Specific Eye Pathologies in Alzheimer's Disease: Treatment Implications. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1999;156:1983-1985.
- El Haj M, Larøi F, Gély-Nargeot MC, Raffard S. Inhibitory deterioration may contribute to hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry*. 2015;20(4):281-295. doi:10.1080/13546805.2015.1023392.
- 91. Sweet R, Bennett DA, Graff-Radford NR, Mayeux R. Assessment and familial aggregation of psychosis in Alzheimer's disease from the National institute on aging late onset Alzheimer's disease family study. *Brain.* 2010;133(4):1155-1162.

doi:10.1093/brain/awq001.

- 92. Hollingworth P, Hamshere ML, Holmans PA, et al. Increased familial risk and genomewide significant linkage for Alzheimer's disease with psychosis. *Am J Med Genet Part B Neuropsychiatr Genet*. 2007;144(7):841-848. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.30515.
- 93. Bacanu S-A, Devlin B, Chowdari K V., DeKosky ST, Nimgaonkar VL, Sweet RA. Heritability of Psychosis in Alzheimer Disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2005;13(7):624-627. doi:10.1097/00019442-200507000-00011.
- 94. Whitehouse PJ, Price DL, Clark AW, Coyle JT, DeLong MR. Alzheimer disease: Evidence for selective loss of cholinergic neurons in the nucleus basalis. *Ann Neurol.* 1981;10(2):122-126. doi:10.1002/ana.410100203.
- 95. Arendt T, Bigl V, Arendt A, Tennstedt A. Loss of neurons in the nucleus basalis of Meynert in Alzheimer's disease, paralysis agitans and Korsakoff's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 1983;61(2):101-108. doi:10.1007/BF00697388.
- Cummings JL, Kaufer D. Neuropsychiatric aspects of Alzheimer's disease: The cholinergic hypothesis revisited. *Neurology*. 1996;47(4):876-883. doi:10.1212/WNL.47.4.876.
- 97. Pinto T, Lanctôt KL, Herrmann N. Revisiting the cholinergic hypothesis of behavioral and psychological symptoms in dementia of the Alzheimer's type. *Ageing Res Rev.* 2011;10(4):404-412. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2011.01.003.
- Cummings JL, Back C. The cholinergic hypothesis of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 1998;6:S64-S78. doi:10.1097/00019442-199821001-00009.
- Hollingworth P, Sweet R, Sims R, et al. Genome-wide association study of Alzheimer's disease with psychotic symptoms. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2012;17(12):1316-1327. doi:10.1038/mp.2011.120.

- Carson R, Craig D, Hart D, et al. Genetic variation in the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is associated with delusional symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuromolecular Med.* 2008;10(4):377-384. doi:10.1007/s12017-008-8048-8.
- 101. Cummings J, Lai TJ, Hemrungrojn S, et al. Role of Donepezil in the Management of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia with Lewy Bodies. *CNS Neurosci Ther.* 2016;22(3):159-166. doi:10.1111/cns.12484.
- Laruelle M. Imaging dopamine transmisison in schizophrenia a review and metaanalysis. *Q J Nucl Med.* 1998.
- 103. Kestler LP, Walker E, Vega EM. Dopamine receptors in the brains of schizophrenia patients: A meta-analysis of the findings. *Behav Pharmacol*. 2001;12(5):355-371. doi:10.1097/00008877-200109000-00007.
- 104. Sweet RA, Nimgaonkar VL, Llyas Kamboh M, Lopez OL, Zhang F, Dekosky ST. Dopamine receptor genetic variation, psychosis, and aggression in Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol.* 1998;55(10):1335-1340. doi:10.1001/archneur.55.10.1335.
- 105. Borroni B, Grassi M, Agosti C, et al. Genetic correlates of behavioral endophenotypes in Alzheimer disease: Role of COMT, 5-HTTLPR and APOE polymorphisms. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2006;27(11):1595-1603. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.09.029.
- 106. Moghaddam B, Adams B, Verma a, Daly D. Activation of glutamatergic neurotransmission by ketamine: a novel step in the pathway from NMDA receptor blockade to dopaminergic and cognitive disruptions associated with the prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci.* 1997;17(8):2921-2927. doi:10.1016/0091-3057(93)90217-H.
- Bickel S, Javitt DC. Neurophysiological and neurochemical animal models of schizophrenia: Focus on glutamate. *Behav Brain Res.* 2009;204(2):352-362. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.05.005.
- 108. Lipton S, Rosenberg P. Excitatory Amino Acids as a Final Common Pathway for

Neurologic Disorders. N Engl J Med. 1994;330(9):613-622.

- 109. Begni S, Moraschi S, Bignotti S, et al. Association between the G1001C polymorphism in the GRIN1 gene promoter region and schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2003;53(7):617-619. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01783-3.
- Ballard CG, Waite J, Birks J. Atypical antipsychotics for aggression and psychosis in Alzheimer's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2006;(1). doi:10.1002/14651858.cd003476.pub2.
- 111. Katz I, De Deyn PP, Mintzer J, Greenspan A, Zhu Y, Brodaty H. The efficacy and safety of risperidone in the treatment of psychosis of Alzheimer's disease and mixed dementia: a meta-analysis of 4 placebo-controlled clinical trials. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2007;22:713-719.
- De Deyn P, Jeste D V., Swanink R, et al. Aripiprazole for the Treatment of Psychosis in Patients With Alzheimer's Disease. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2005;25(5):463-467. doi:10.1097/01.jcp.0000178415.22309.8f.
- Schneider L, Dagerman K, Insel P. Risk of Death With Atypical Antipsychotic. JAMA. 2005;294(15):1934-1943.
- 114. Zhang Z, Huang H, Shen D. Integrative analysis of multi-dimensional imaging genomics data for alzheimer's disease prediction. *Front Aging Neurosci*. 2014;6(SEP):1-9. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00260.
- 115. Stein JL, Hua X, Morra JH, et al. Genome-Wide Analysis Reveals Novel Genes Influencing Temporal Lobe Structure with Relevance to Neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's Disease. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2010;51(2):542-554. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.02.068.Genome-Wide.
- 116. Han X, Jovicich J, Salat D, et al. Reliability of {MRI}-derived measurements of human cerebral cortical thickness: {T}he effects of field strength, scanner upgrade and manufacturer. *Neuroimage*. 2006;32(1):180-194.

- Reuter M, Schmansky NJ, Rosas HD, Fischl B. Within-Subject Template Estimation for Unbiased Longitudinal Image Analysis. *Neuroimage*. 2012;61(4):1402-1418. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.02.084.
- Reuter M, Rosas HD, Fischl B. Accurate Inverse Consistent Robust Registration. *Neuroimage*. 2010;53(4):1181-1196. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.07.020.
- Segonne F, Dale AM, Busa E, et al. A hybrid approach to the skull stripping problem in MRI. *Neuroimage*. 2004;22(3):1060-1075. doi:DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.03.032.
- Desikan RS, Ségonne F, Fischl B, et al. An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage*. 2006;31(3):968-980. doi:DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021.
- 121. Fischl B, van der Kouwe A, Destrieux C, et al. Automatically Parcellating the Human Cerebral Cortex. *Cereb Cortex*. 2004;14(1):11-22. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhg087.
- 122. Fischl B, Salat D ~H., Busa E, et al. Whole brain segmentation: automated labeling of neuroanatomical structures in the human brain. *Neuron*. 2002;33:341-355.
- 123. Fischl B, Salat DH, van der Kouwe AJW, et al. Sequence-independent segmentation of magnetic resonance images. *Neuroimage*. 2004;23(Supplement 1):S69-S84. doi:DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.016.
- Sled JG, Zijdenbos AP, Evans AC. A nonparametric method for automatic correction of intensity nonuniformity in MRI data. *IEEE Trans Med Imaging*. 1998;17:87-97.
- 125. Fischl B, Liu A, Dale A ~M. Automated manifold surgery: constructing geometrically accurate and topologically correct models of the human cerebral cortex. *{IEEE} Med Imaging*. 2001;20(1):70-80.

- Segonne F, Pacheco J, Fischl B. Geometrically accurate topology-correction of cortical surfaces using nonseparating loops. *IEEE Trans Med Imaging*. 2007;26:518-529.
- Dale A, Fischl B, Sereno MI. Cortical Surface-Based Analysis: I. Segmentation and Surface Reconstruction. *Neuroimage*. 1999;9(2):179-194. doi:10.1006/nimg.1998.0395.
- 128. Rafii MS, Taylor CS, Kim HT, et al. Neuropsychiatric Symptoms and Regional Neocortical Atrophy in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen. 2013;00(0):1-7. doi:10.1177/1533317513507373.
- Fischl B, Dale AM. Measuring the thickness of the human cerebral cortex from magnetic resonance images. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2000;97(20):11050-11055.
- Gronenschild EHBM, Habets P, Jacobs HIL, et al. The effects of FreeSurfer version, workstation type, and Macintosh operating system version on anatomical volume and cortical thickness measurements. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(6). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0038234.
- 131. Chepkoech JL, Walhovd KB, Grydeland H, Fjell AM. Effects of change in FreeSurfer version on classification accuracy of patients with Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Hum Brain Mapp.* 2016;37(5):1831-1841. doi:10.1002/hbm.23139.
- 132. Schwarz CG, Gunter JL, Wiste HJ, et al. A large-scale comparison of cortical thickness and volume methods for measuring Alzheimer's disease severity. *NeuroImage Clin.* 2016;11:802-812. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2016.05.017.
- 133. Voevodskaya O. The effects of intracranial volume adjustment approaches on multiple regional MRI volumes in healthy aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2014;6(OCT):1-14. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00264.
- 134. Westman E, Aguilar C, Muehlboeck JS, Simmons A. Regional magnetic resonance imaging measures for multivariate analysis in Alzheimer's disease and mild

cognitive impairment. *Brain Topogr*. 2013;26(1):9-23. doi:10.1007/s10548-012-0246-x.

- Saykin AJ, Shen L, Foroud T, et al. Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative biomarkers as quantitative phenotypes: Genetics core aims, progress, and plans. 2010;6:1249-1254. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2008.07.016.Cytokeratin.
- Li Y, Willer C, Sanna S, Abecasis G. Genotype Imputation. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet*. 2009;10(1):387-406. doi:10.1146/annurev.genom.9.081307.164242.
- Purcell S, Neale B, Todd-Brown K, et al. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2007;81(3):559-575. doi:10.1086/519795.
- Altshuler DM, Gibbs RA, Peltonen L, et al. Integrating common and rare genetic variation in diverse human populations. *Nature*. 2010;467(7311):52-58. doi:10.1038/nature09298.
- Beaton D, Dunlop J, Abdi H. Partial least squares correspondence analysis: A framework to simultaneously analyze behavioral and genetic data. *Psychol Methods*. 2015;21(4):621-651. doi:10.1037/met0000053.
- Darvesh S, Hopkins DA, Geula C. Neurobiology of butyrylcholinesterase. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* 2003;4(2):131-138. doi:10.1038/nrn1035.
- 141. Yoo H, Lee H, Shin S, et al. Butyrylcholinesterase K and Apolipoprotein E4 Affect Cortical Thickness and Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* 2014;11(2):137-144. doi:10.2174/1567205011666140130152114.
- 142. Rosa A, Peralta V, Cuesta MJ, et al. New evidence of association between COMT gene and prefrontal neurocognitive function in healthy individuals from sibling pairs discordant for psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2004;161(6):1110-1112. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.161.6.1110.
- 143. Huang W, Ma JZ, Payne TJ, Beuten J, Dupont RT, Li MD. Significant association

of DRD1 with nicotine dependence. *Hum Genet*. 2008;123(2):133-140. doi:10.1007/s00439-007-0453-9.

- 144. Duan J, Wainwright MS, Comeron JM, et al. Synonymous mutations in the human dopamine receptor D2 (DRD2) affect mRNA stability and synthesis of the receptor. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2003;12(3):205-216. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddg055.
- Bertolino A, Fazio L, Caforio G, et al. Functional variants of the dopamine receptor D2 gene modulate prefronto-striatal phenotypes in schizophrenia. *Brain*. 2009. doi:10.1093/brain/awn248.
- 146. Makoff AJ, Graham JM, Arranz MJ, et al. Association study of dopamine receptor gene polymorphisms with drug-induced hallucinations in patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Pharmacogenetics*. 2000;10(1):43-48. doi:10.1097/00008571-200002000-00006.
- 147. Savitz J, Hodgkinson CA, Martin-Soelch C, et al. The Functional DRD3 Ser9Gly Polymorphism (rs6280) Is Pleiotropic, Affecting Reward as Well as Movement. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(1). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0054108.
- Ripke S, Neale BM, Corvin A, et al. Biological insights from 108 schizophreniaassociated genetic loci. *Nature*. 2014;511(7510):421-427. doi:10.1038/nature13595.
- Weickert CS, Fung SJ, Catts VS, et al. Molecular evidence of N-methyl-Daspartate receptor hypofunction in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2013. doi:10.1038/mp.2012.137.
- 150. Andreoli V, De Marco EV, Trecroci F, Cittadella R, Di Palma G, Gambardella A. Potential involvement of GRIN2B encoding the NMDA receptor subunit NR2B in the spectrum of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm.* 2014. doi:10.1007/s00702-013-1125-7.
- 151. Liu HP, Lin WY, Liu SH, et al. Genetic variation in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit NR3A but not NR3B influences susceptibility to Alzheimer's disease.

Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2009;28(6):521-527. doi:10.1159/000254757.

- 152. Gallinat J, Götz T, Kalus P, Bajbouj M, Sander T, Winterer G. Genetic variations of the NR3A subunit of the NMDA receptor modulate prefrontal cerebral activity in humans. *J Cogn Neurosci*. 2007. doi:10.1162/jocn.2007.19.1.59.
- 153. Karch CM, Jeng AT, Nowotny P, Cady J, Cruchaga C, Goate AM. Expression of Novel Alzheimer's Disease Risk Genes in Control and Alzheimer's Disease Brains. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(11). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0050976.
- Reeves SJ, Gould RL, Powell JF, Howard RJ. Origins of delusions in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2012;36(10):2274-2287. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.08.001.
- 155. Koppel J, Sunday S, Goldberg TE, Davies P, Christen E, Greenwald BS. Psychosis in Alzheimer's disease is associated with frontal metabolic impairment and accelerated decline in working memory: Findings from the Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2014;22(7):698-707. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2012.10.028.
- 156. Sultzer DL, Mahler M, Mandelkern MA, et al. The relationship between psychiatric symptoms and regional cortical metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 1995;7(4):476-484. doi:10.1176/jnp.7.4.476.
- 157. Nakaaki S, Sato J, Torii K, et al. Neuroanatomical abnormalities before onset of delusions in patients with Alzheimer's disease: A voxel-based morphometry study. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 2012;9(1):1-8. doi:10.2147/NDT.S38939.
- 158. Koppel J, Goldberg TE, Gordon ML, et al. Relationships between behavioral syndromes and cognitive domains in alzheimer disease: The impact of mood and psychosis. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2012;20(11):994-1000. doi:10.1097/JGP.0b013e3182358921.
- 159. Nagata T, Ishii K, Ito T, et al. Correlation between a reduction in Frontal Assessment Battery scores and delusional thoughts in patients with Alzheimer's

disease: Regular article. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*. 2009;63(4):449-454. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.01968.x.

- Schwartz TL, Sachdeva S, Stahl SM. Glutamate neurocircuitry: Theoretical underpinnings in: Schizophrenia. *Front Pharmacol*. 2012;3(195):1-11. doi:10.3389/fphar.2012.00195.
- Snyder MA, Gao W-J. NMDA hypofunction as a convergence point for progression and symptoms of schizophrenia. *Front Cell Neurosci*. 2013;7(March):1-12. doi:10.3389/fncel.2013.00031.
- Olney JW, Farber NB. Glutamate Receptor Dysfunction and Schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1995;52:998-1007.
- Leriche L, Diaz J, Sokoloff P. Dopamine and glutamate dysfunctions in schizophrenia: Role of the dopamine D3 receptor. *Neurotox Res.* 2004;6(1):63-71. doi:10.1007/BF03033298.
- Coyle JT. Glutamate and Schizophrenia: Beyond the Dopamine Hypothesis. *Cell Mol Neurobiol*. 2006;26(4-6):363-382. doi:10.1007/s10571-006-9062-8.
- 165. Kegeles LS, Abi-Dargham A, Zea-Ponce Y, et al. Modulation of amphetamineinduced striatal dopamine release by ketamine in humans: Implications for schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2000;48(7):627-640. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(00)00976-8.
- 166. Ormston L. Investigating brain structural differences and the impact of common genetic variation across the psychosis spectrum. 2018. https://open.bu.edu/handle/2144/30756.
- Molinuevo J, Llado A, Rami L. Memantine: Targeting glutamate excitotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen*. 2005;20(2):77-85.
- 168. Monastero R, Camarda C, Pipia C, Camarda R. Visual hallucinations and agitation

in Alzheimer's disease due to memantine: Report of three cases [3]. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2007;78(5):546. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2006.096420.

- 169. Jarvis B, Figgitt D. Memantine. *Drugs Aging*. 2003;20(6):465-476.
 doi:10.1017/CBO9780511841378.077.
- Schneider RC, Crosby EC, Farhat SM. Extratemporal Lesions Triggering the Temporal-Lobe Syndrome. *J Neurosurg*. 1965;22(3):246-263. doi:10.3171/jns.1965.22.3.0246.
- 171. Frith CD, Done J. Towards a Neuropsychology of Schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry*. 1988;153:437-443.
- Silbersweig D., Stern E, Frith C, et al. A functional neuroanatomy of schizophrenia. *Nature*. 1995;378:176-179. doi:10.1038/378176a0.
- 173. Mega MS, Lee L, Dinov ID, Mishkin F, Toga AW, Cummings JL. Cerebral correlates of psychotic symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2000;69(2):167-171. doi:10.1136/jnnp.69.2.167.
- 174. Etkin A, Egner T, Kalisch R. Emotional processing in anterior and media prefrontal cortex. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 2011;15(2):85-93. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2010.11.004.Emotional.
- 175. Yoshimura S, Ueda K, Suzuki S ichi, Onoda K, Okamoto Y, Yamawaki S. Selfreferential processing of negative stimuli within the ventral anterior cingulate gyrus and right amygdala. *Brain Cogn.* 2009;69(1):218-225. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2008.07.010.
- Piccininni M, Carlo A Di, Baldereschi M, Zaccara G, Inzitari D. Behavioral and psychological symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: Frequency and relationship with duration and severity of the disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2005;19(5-6):276-281. doi:10.1159/000084552.
- 177. Price DL, Bonhaus DW, McFarland K. Pimavanserin, a 5-HT2A receptor inverse

agonist, reverses psychosis-like behaviors in a rodent model of Alzheimer's disease. *Behav Pharmacol.* 2012;23(4):426-433. doi:10.1097/FBP.0b013e3283566082.

178. Ballard C, Youakim JM, Coate B, Stankovic S. Pimavanserin in Alzheimer's Disease Psychosis: Efficacy in Patients with More Pronounced Psychotic Symptoms. J Prev Alzheimer's Dis. 2019;6(1):27-33. doi:10.14283/jpad.2018.30.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Juweiriya Ahmed
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	M.Sc. Candidate, Neuroscience Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2017- Present
	B.Sc. Honours Specialization in Neuroscience (Western Scholars) Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2013-2017.
Honours and Awards:	Parkwood Institute Research – Cognitive Vitality Travel Award May 2019
	Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship CIHR CGS-M 2018-2019
	Parkwood Institute Research – Mental Health Studentship 2018-2019
	Ontario Graduate Scholarship <i>(Declined)</i> 2018-2019
	Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2017-2019
	NSERC-USRA Western University May-August 2017

Conference Abstracts:

ORAL PRESENTATIONS

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Robertson, A., Patel, S., Beaton, D., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2019). Regional brain structure interactions with genetic variants in neurotransmitter systems associated with hallucinations and delusions in Alzheimer's disease. American Neuropsychiatric Association 30th Annual Meeting, Chicago, Illinois. <u>Ahmed, J</u>., Patel, S., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2018). Identifying biomarkers associated with the development of hallucinations and delusions in Alzheimer's disease: A multimodal neuroimaging and genetic analysis study. Clinical Neurological Sciences Research Day 2018, Western University.

POSTER PRESENTATIONS

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Beaton, D., Robertson, A., Patel, S., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2019). Identifying neuroimaging and genetic correlates of delusions and hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease. Clinical Neurological Sciences Research Day 2019, Western University. **Best Poster Award.**

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Robertson, A., Patel, S., Beaton, D., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2019). Interactions Between Brain Structures and Genetic Variants in Neurotransmitter Systems as Potential Biomarkers for Hallucinations and Delusions in Alzheimer's Disease. American Academy of Neurology 71st Annual Meeting, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Beaton, D., Robertson, A.D., Patel, S., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2019). Identifying neuroimaging and genetic correlates of delusions and hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease. Parkwood Institute Research Day 2019, Parkwood Institute, London, Ontario.

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Robertson, A., Patel, S., Beaton, D., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2019). Identifying neuroimaging and genetic correlates of delusions and hallucinations in Alzheimer's disease. London Health Research Day, Lawson Health Research Institute, London Health Convention Centre.

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Robertson, A., Patel, S., Beaton, D., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2019). Regional brain structure interactions with genetic variants in neurotransmitter systems associated with hallucinations and delusions in Alzheimer's disease. American Neuropsychiatric Association 30th Annual Meeting, Chicago, Illinois.

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Patel, S., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2018). Identifying biomarkers associated with the development of hallucinations and delusions in Alzheimer's disease: A multimodal neuroimaging and genetic analysis study. London Health Research Day, Lawson Health Research Institute, London Health Convention Centre.

<u>Ahmed, J</u>., Patel, S., Palaniyappan, L., Pasternak, S., Masellis, M., Finger, E. (2018). Identifying biomarkers associated with the development of hallucinations and delusions in Alzheimer's disease: A multimodal neuroimaging and genetic analysis study. Parkwood Institute Research Day 2018, Parkwood Institute, London, Ontario.